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FITNESS WORLD  
Fitness World has grown to 168 fully owned fitness clubs and 462,000 members at the end of 2016. With 
158 clubs and around 450,000 members in its domestic market visiting close to 25 million times per 
year, Fitness World is by far the largest fitness provider in Denmark. The Company entered the Polish 
market in January 2015 and operates 10 fitness clubs with 12,000 members in total.  

Fitness World was founded in 2005 and is headquartered in Valby, Denmark.  

FITNESS WORLD BRANDS 
Fitness World offers well-invested fitness clubs with state-of-the-art equipment and a comprehensive 
range of group training classes in convenient locations and at non-binding affordable prices. In 2016, we 
introduced a second brand, Urban Gym, which offers a basic product (no group training, wellness or 
personnel), launching five clubs across major cities in Denmark. The brand is aimed at the strong-
growing low-end segment, complementing the Fitness World brand. 

 

 

 

 

FITNESS WORLD EVOLUTION 
Fitness World has grown both organically and through acquisitions, and has changed ownership along the 
way:  

FITNESS WORLD, THE PREFERRED 
FITNESS CHAIN IN DENMARK 

Acquired Enjoy 
Fitness in 2011 – 
12 clubs 

 
Acquired Fitness 
One in 2012 – 7 
clubs 

Acquired SATS from 
Health & Fitness 
Nordic (HFN) in 2013 
– 6 clubs 

 
Acquired Fresh 
Fitness in 2015 – 
23 clubs 

Entered Poland in 
2015 

Change of 
ownership from 
Rossing to FSN 
Capital in 2015 

New strategy in 
2016 – Fuel19 

Introduced a 
second brand, 
Urban Gym, in 
2016 

168  
clubs 

462,000 
25 million 
1.1 billion 

 
members 
 
visits/year 
 
in revenue (DKK) 

 
Founded in 2005 
by Henrik and 
Sophie Rossing 
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REVENUE was DKK 1,102 million, against a proforma revenue of DKK 1,051 million in 2015, an increase 
of DKK 51 million or organic growth of 4.9%.  

EBITDA came to DKK 230 million (equivalent to an EBITDA margin of 20.8%), against a proforma EBITDA 
of DKK 218.5 million (equivalent to an EBITDA margin of 20.8%) in 2015. 

CASH FLOW from operating activities was DKK 87 million. Cash flow was negatively impacted by DKK 86 
million due to a change in working capital. Free cash flow was DKK -59 million, against DKK 107 million in 
2015. 

NET DEBT was DKK 837 million at 31 December 2016 (equivalent to debt gearing of 3.6), against DKK 
833 million in 2015 (equivalent to debt gearing of 3.8), an increase in debt of DKK 4 million.  

EQUITY was DKK 694 million at 31 December 2016. Fitness World’s equity decreased by DKK 25 million 
in 2016. The loss for the period decreased the equity by DKK 21 million. 

In early 2016, Fitness World launched its new growth strategy, Fuel19, where we aim to cover our home 
market more efficiently while improving the member experience in a segmented approach. 

In 2016, Fitness World rolled out Urban Gym in major cities in Denmark. Urban Gym has an entirely new 
facility proposition to ensure a competitive price point and groundbreaking interior design to create a 
unique member experience.  

In Poland, Fitness World continued to adapt its brand and product to local market and consumer 
dynamics in 2016. At the same time, we recorded like-for-like growth of 150%. 

We are satisfied with the development of our business and the overall result for 2016, which is in line 
with our expectations. 

 

HIGHLIGHTS  

KEY FIGURES – 2016  

1,102 million 
 

Revenue of DKK 

230 million 
 

EBITDA of DKK 

31 million 
 

Operating profit of DKK 

87 million  
Cash flow of DKK 

694 million  
Equity of DKK 
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In 2016, Fitness World strengthened its position as Denmark’s preferred and most 
innovative fitness chain, delivering top-line growth of 5%.    

PERFORMANCE 
Notably, we were able to maintain a high EBITDA margin of 20.8% in a year of significant investments in 
new clubs, a new fitness brand in Denmark and further penetration of the Polish market. The financial 
result is satisfactory, within our expectations and forms a solid platform for continued growth in the years 
to come.  

NEW STRATEGY 
In early 2016, we launched our new growth strategy, Fuel19, where we aim to cover our home market 
more efficiently while improving the member experience in a segmented approach. We are striving to 
consolidate and further build on our position in Denmark as a leading fitness retailer with brands, 
products and concepts that fully resonate with consumers and, at the same time, penetrate new, 
attractive markets with our compelling fitness solutions. As we transform from a single-brand to a multi-
brand company, we want to make sure that we create a strong solution in the budget segment – a 
segment we expect to outgrow the total market with healthy tailwinds in the years to come. In 2016, we 
therefore rolled out Urban Gym in major cities in Denmark. Urban Gym has an entirely new facility 
proposition to ensure a competitive price point and groundbreaking interior design to create a unique 
member experience. 

2016 was also a year where we stepped up efforts to create the best possible team and structure to 
deliver on our ambitions to become the most professional fitness retailer with the strongest brands in the 
business. In 2016, we implemented a new market structure in Denmark to move closer to our local 
members and strengthened our senior management team without losing sight of market performance.     

To further build our core brand, Fitness World, we launched a new creative platform, “Be good to 
yourself” (“Gør noget godt for dig selv”), in the second half of 2016. This new platform will reposition the 
Fitness World brand and our clubs as the ultimate space and playground to escape a hectic and stressful 
day-to-day life and indulge in building health, body and mind.    

POLAND 
Our mission and ambition go beyond our home market, and in Poland we continued to adapt our brand 
and product to local market and consumer dynamics in 2016. The ongoing calibration led to improved 
performance in our mature clubs in 2016, helping us to record like-for-like member growth of 150% vs. 
2015 – a result that underlines our potential in Poland and proves that Fitness World can create a brand 
and product that the Polish consumer can buy into.       

OUTLOOK 
In 2017, we will continue our work on building our position in the Danish market and shaping a tailored 
member experience for our various consumer segments in the best locations in Denmark. In addition to 
this, we will stay on track in Poland and accelerate our club roll-out under the Fitness World brand. The 
go-to-market approach will stay on course, with our philosophy of a sequential roll-out in the 
southwestern region and creating strong club clusters to utilise marketing and operational efficiencies.   

I would like to thank our dedicated employees for their contribution to our great results in 2016. In 
addition, we appreciate the strong cooperation of our external suppliers and, last but not least, our loyal 
members for continuing to support our brands.  

Kind regards, 
Steen Albrechtslund  

CEO 

LETTER FROM THE CEO – FITNESS 
WORLD STAYS ON GROWTH TRACK 
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Based on a strong home market position, Fitness World’s goal is to be one of Europe’s 
five largest fitness operators. We intend to achieve this by providing as many people 
as possible with the opportunity to live a healthier life through fitness, at a price that 
is accessible to all.  

BETTER HEALTH FOR ALL IS OUR MISSION   
Fitness World plays an integral part in improving the nation’s health in Denmark. We are humble to and 
aware of our public health responsibility, with around 450,000 members equalling more than 10% of the 
Danish population over the age of 15. With our 158 clubs in prime locations across Denmark, we have a 
strong market position.  

Good health for all is our reason for existing, and for all is a critical democratic component of our set of 
values and very descriptive of the way we see ourselves. We were created to enable as many people as 
possible from all social classes to live a healthier lifestyle through fitness training and thus actively 
contribute to a society that is healthier in mind and body. 

Fitness World is committed to being the number one provider of a “healthy life for all” in Denmark and to 
expanding internationally by taking advantage of the extensive fitness knowledge built up over the years. 
The ability to adapt quickly to market changes is a critical success factor for Fitness World and, with the 
Company’s strong brand portfolio and solid membership base in Denmark and Poland, Fitness World is 
determined to continue to grow. 

 

NEW STRATEGY: FUEL19 
Combining more than 10 years’ experience with a clear strategy, the course is set for Fitness World. 
Fitness World’s new growth strategy, Fuel19, was launched in 2016 with a strategic priority to grow in 
both the Danish home market and in Poland. Clearly defined targets for 2019 have been implemented 
throughout the organisation.  

 

MULTI-PRONGED GROWTH POTENTIAL 
The fitness industry has seen rapid growth in the past 10 years and is expected to continue growing in 
the years to come, driven by strong health awareness and interest as well as demographics, urbanisation 
and niche formats. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In a constantly evolving industry where new training concepts and supplementary technologies are 
emerging, Fitness World is uniquely positioned to develop and capitalise on these trends, both in our 
Danish home market and abroad.  

MISSION AND STRATEGY 

FITNESS WORLD’S CORE 
STRENGTHS 

Dedicated focus 

Strong market position 

Large and growing client base 

In-depth fitness expertise 

Solid business model 
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MEMBERSHIP-BASED BUSINESS MODEL 
Fitness World’s business model is based on memberships, whereby customers pay a subscription to gain 
unlimited access to exercise facilities. Subscriptions are renewed automatically, so that the cost of a new 
period is automatically paid for by means of a pre-authorised charge to a credit card. On average, Fitness 
World has additional sales of 15% on top of the subscription fee, for example from drinks, protein bars 
and personal training. We offer a tailored member experience. 

The overriding trend in the fitness industry is increased personalisation – listening to what customers 
want and helping them to achieve their goals. Fitness World responds to market trends by creating a 
tailored member experience for our various consumer segments.  

We offer well-invested fitness clubs with state-of-the-art equipment and a comprehensive range of group 
training classes (60+ classes) in convenient locations and at non-binding affordable prices.  

We intensified our efforts to strengthen the member experience in 2016 because we recognise that it 
takes investment and innovation to operate successfully in such a competitive market.  

 

“More than 50% of our members rejoin Fitness World after leaving us.” 

 

OUR PEOPLE: THE CORE OF OUR BUSINESS 
Our talented fitness instructors and employees are the core of our business – they are the ones on the 
front line ensuring that we provide a great fitness experience, allowing our members to join our clubs 
with ease and quickly become part of the fitness environment. Therefore, we need to have the best and 
most motivated employees, and measures to ensure this were further reinforced in 2016 through internal 
training, development and talent management as well as external recruitment.  

In 2016, we also strengthened our market value chain and established closer ties between the business 
on the ground and the administration. In addition, we built a framework for measuring performance and 
new initiatives creating better fact-based decision-making for all. This will carry into 2017 as our 
performance-driven organisation is the backbone of all our growth efforts and requires our people to have 
new skills and competences. 
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INTRODUCTION  
TO URBAN GYM 
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URBAN GYM – A NEW LOW-PRICE FITNESS BRAND IN DENMARK 
As one of its strategic growth initiatives in 2016, Fitness World launched Urban Gym – a new low-price 
fitness brand in Denmark targeting everyone interested in cross, fitness and cardio at a favourable price, 
without the need for shower facilities or training instruction. 

Inspired by Berlin, London and New York, all Urban Gym clubs have been fitted out with an innovative 
and trendy design and the best equipment available.  

Urban Gym provides the opportunity to both exercise and hang out in cosy areas, which elevates the 
total user experience to a new level. Innovation and new thinking are key to securing and growing a solid 
market position. 

Urban Gym clubs are mainly former Fitness World clubs that have been renovated and converted into the 
new concept. Even though the up-front investments are significant, the business model with unmanned 
clubs and no shower facilities keeps the cost level to a minimum subsequently. 

In September 2016, five clubs opened in Copenhagen, Odense, Aarhus and Viborg, and in January 2017 
another five clubs opened in Copenhagen, Kolding, Vejle, Herning and Aalborg.  

Fitness World has great expectations regarding the continued roll-out of the concept, as the discount 
segment is expected to show the highest growth rates in the coming years. 

FACTS ABOUT URBAN GYM 

Open all hours – 24/7 – 365 days a 
year 

Unlimited training for DKK 99 per 
month 

Membership with no lock-in period 

10 clubs in major Danish cities  
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Our financial results for 2016 showed strong earnings, and we were able to maintain 
our EBITDA margin despite significant investments in growing a new low-price brand 
in Denmark and expanding our business in Poland. 

2017 will be a year of sustained investments in new fitness clubs and upgrading our 
existing Fitness World clubs. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE GROUP 
 

DKK ’000 
2016 

12 months 

2015 
12 months 
Proforma* 

2015 
7 months** 

Key figures    
Revenue 1,102,649 1,050,915 611,283 
Gross profit 502,552 470,391 262,538 
EBITDA, normalised*** 229,387 218,484 114,341 
Ordinary operating profit/loss 30,740 - -27,794 
Loss from financial income and expenses -54,090 - -30,338 
Loss for the year -21,447 - -54,694 
    
Total assets 1,838,813 - 1,997,993 
Portion relating to investment in property, 
plant and equipment 84,639 - 86,453 
Equity 698,188 - 723,129 
    
Cash flow from operating activities 87,539 - 172,043 
Cash flow from investing activities  -76,722 - -1,384,146 
Cash flow from financing activities -69,773 - 1,322,938 
Total cash flows -58,956 - 110,835 
    
Financial ratios    
Gross margin 45.5% 44.8% 43.1% 
Solvency ratio 38.0% - 36.2% 
    
Average number of full-time employees  867 - 898 

 

* Proforma figures based on the consolidated figures for Fitness World A/S for 2015, including expenses in Fitness 
World Group A/S. 
** Actual figures for seven months of operations.  
*** Gross profit excluding employee expenses.  

The financial ratios have been prepared in accordance with the Danish Finance Society's guidelines on the 
calculation of financial ratios, "Recommendations and Financial Ratios 2015". For terms and definitions, 
please see the accounting policies.   

INCOME STATEMENT 
USE OF PROFORMA INCOME STATEMENT FOR COMPARISON 
The Group was established at 29 May 2015, which is why the income statement for 2015 only includes 
results for seven months. Therefore, for a relevant year-over-year comparison, proforma figures for 12 
months have been included for 2015 in the financial review and outlook section. The proforma figures for 
2015 are based on the consolidated figures for Fitness World A/S, which represent the best basis for 
comparison.   

FINANCIAL REVIEW AND  
OUTLOOK FOR 2017 
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REVENUE 
REVENUE was DKK 1,102 million, against a proforma revenue of DKK 1,051 million in 2015, an increase 
of DKK 51 million or organic growth of 4.9%.  

Organic growth came from a combination of increased membership numbers and higher average revenue 
per unit.  

Value-added sales were DKK 120 million, against DKK 65 million in 2015, an increase of DKK 55 million 
or 85%, driven by a sharper focus on personal training and expanding the product portfolio. 

GROSS PROFIT 
The gross margin was 46%, against 43% in 2015. Average revenue per unit was up on 2015, and 
increased capacity utilisation of our clubs due to the increased member base had a positive impact on 
margins, offset partly by an adverse country mix due to expanding our business in Poland and partly by 
introducing our low-price brand, Urban Gym. 

EBITDA 
EBITDA came to DKK 230 million (equivalent to an EBITDA margin of 20.8%), against a proforma EBITDA 
of DKK 218.5 million (equivalent to an EBITDA margin of 20.8%) in 2015. 

The increase in EBITDA was due to higher average revenue per unit and the increased member base. 
Advertising expenses were higher than in 2015, mainly as a result of growing a new brand in Denmark 
and the roll-out of Fitness World in Poland.  

SPECIAL ITEMS INCLUDED IN EBITDA 
2016 brought negative special items in the range of DKK 10 million, mainly due to reorganisation costs 
and the cost of closing clubs to move to a better location.  

OPERATING PROFIT (EBIT) 
Operating profit was DKK 31 million in 2016 (equivalent to an EBIT margin of 3%), against DKK -27 
million in 2015, an improvement of DKK 58 million.  

 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  
Net financials totalled DKK 54 million in 2016, against DKK 30 million in 2015. Besides interest expenses 
and foreign exchange adjustments, the figure includes amortisation of borrowing costs and payments for 
an unused committed credit facility. 

Profit before tax was DKK -23 million, against DKK -58 million in 2015, an improvement of DKK 35 
million. 

TAXATION 
Tax for 2016 was an income of DKK 1.8 million, against income of DKK 3.3 million in 2015.  
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CASH FLOW 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
CASH FLOW from operating activities was DKK 87 million. Cash flow was negatively impacted by DKK 86 
million due to a change in working capital. Free cash flow was DKK -59 million, against DKK 107 million in 
2015. 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Investments of DKK 77 million were made during 2016, against proforma investments of DKK 69 million 
in 2015. 

 

BALANCE SHEET 
The balance sheet total at 31 December 2016 was DKK 1,843 million, against DKK 1,994 million at year-
end 2015. 

FINANCING 
NET DEBT was DKK 837 million at 31 December 2016 (equivalent to debt gearing of 3.6), against DKK 
833 million in 2015 (equivalent to debt gearing of 3.8), an increase in debt of DKK 4 million.  

Fitness World will continue to be dependent on debt financing in the coming years. Maintenance of the 
committed credit facility is conditional upon compliance with a number of financial covenants.  

EQUITY 
EQUITY was DKK 694 million at 31 December 2016. Fitness World’s equity decreased by DKK 25 million 
in 2016. The profit for the period decreased equity by DKK 21 million. 

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
No significant events have occurred after the balance sheet date. 

 

OUTLOOK FOR 2017  
! The financial results for Fitness World are expected to continue to improve in 2017.  
! Investments excluding acquisitions and divestments are expected to be in the region of DKK 100 

million.  
 
The expectations for Fitness World's financial performance in 2017 are based on the following specific 

assumptions:  
! Exchange rates, primarily for EUR and PLN, hold at their mid-May 2017 levels.  

 
The expectations for Fitness World’s financial performance are based on a number of general 
assumptions.  
Management believes that the most significant assumptions underlying Fitness World's expectations 

relate to:  
! Member development  
! Price competition in Fitness World's geographical markets  
! General developments in the fitness market  
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Risk management is an ongoing process at Fitness World, involving the identification of risks and an 
assessment of their potential impact on earnings and equity. We aim to mitigate identified risks through 
internal business procedures, insurance and/or follow-up. Procedures, guidelines and various control 
systems have been developed to monitor and mitigate the risks identified, ensuring optimal management 
of all key risks. 

Fitness World uses long-term scenarios as part of an annual evaluation of opportunities for and barriers 
to future growth, conducted during the strategy process. The scenarios are used to evaluate the impact 
of major decisions and the potential impact of major risks.  

The Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility for the Group’s risk management process and 
establishes the overall framework for it, whereas the duty to monitor compliance with policies has been 
delegated to the CFO.  

RISK MANAGEMENT 
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Risk Scenario Probability 
Impact 
factor Action 

Market With significant operational gearing 
and fixed costs, demand has a 
noticeable effect on Fitness World’s 
financial performance. 
Developments in the local economy 
and especially the consumer sector, 
as well as political initiatives such 
as taxes or VAT deductions 
targeting the fitness industry, have 
a significant direct and indirect 
impact on Fitness World. 

High High Monitoring economic and political 
developments in the two 
markets, Denmark and Poland, 
and effective sales follow-up on a 
weekly basis. 

Revenue Numerous factors could lead to a 
decline in existing membership 
levels or prevent us from increasing 
membership levels, including 
competition from other gym 
operators and other health and 
fitness club operators in the 
locations in which we already 
operate our clubs or would like to 
open new clubs, harm to our 
reputation or brand and failure to 
deliver high-quality services at a 
competitive cost. 

Medium Medium/ 
high 

Competitor monitoring to the 
extent possible. Strong market 
visibility to maintain market 
position. Price monitoring in the 
two markets. Predicting 
consumer dynamics to deliver 
solutions that resonates with 
consumers. 

Brand value Our success depends in large part 
upon our ability to maintain and 
enhance the value of our brand and 
our members’ and the public’s 
connection to our brand. 

High Medium Building, promoting and 
positioning our brand. 

Interest & 
foreign 
exchange rates 

Fitness World’s earnings are in DKK 
and PLN, while its borrowings are in 
DKK. Any developments in the 
financial markets, especially 
interest rate rises, could have a 
significant impact on Fitness World. 

High Medium/ 
high 

Exchange and interest rate risks 
are mitigated under established 
policies and are subject to 
ongoing follow-up and reporting. 
Fitness World does not hedge 
currency exposure, but tries to 
match assets and liabilities within 
the country when possible. 

Capital structure 
& cash flow 

Net interest-bearing debt 
amounted to DKK 837 million at 
the end of 2016, and Fitness World 
will remain dependent on external 
financing in the future. 

Low High The current bank agreement has 
a credit facility of DKK 925 
million. The bank can terminate 
the facility prematurely if Fitness 
World fails to meet certain 
financial covenants. In 2016, 
there was no breach of the 
financial covenants. 

Contractors We rely on third-party contractors 
and suppliers for various aspects of 
our business, including provision 
and servicing of fitness equipment, 
member payment processing, 
certain IT services and certain 
marketing functions. 

Medium Low We have strengthened our 
control environment around our 
contractors and have been 
implementing new software 
systems that should limit this 
risk. 
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GOVERNANCE 
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Fitness World has defined corporate governance as responsible and efficient 
management to the benefit of Fitness World's members and the surrounding world. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring the overall strategic management and that the financial 
and managerial control of the Company is conducted adequately. 

Fitness World Group A/S is a part of Forward Topco A/S. Please refer to Forward Topco A/S in respect of 
the Board of Directors corporate governance.  

The Board of Directors of Fitness World Group A/S consists of three members: 

KASPER SØRENSEN, Chairman since 2016 
THOMAS BROE-ANDERSEN, member since 2015 
NIELS ELDRUP MEIDAHL, member since 2016 
 

 
EXECUTIVE BOARD AND GROUP MANAGEMENT 
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operation of Fitness World. The management level consists 
of CEO Steen Albrechtslund (Executive Board) and six heads of department (Group Management).   

In 2016, several organisational initiatives were decided to strengthen the overall management of Fitness 
World. Niels Eldrup Meidahl was employed as CFO and Philip Philipson as Marketing Director. In addition, 
Group Management was extended by employing Rikke Sigdal as Business Development Director and Lars 
Frødstrup as Value Added Sales Director. A full overview of Group Management can be found on page 21. 

At the end of 2016, the total number of employees was approximately 4,000. It is crucial that Fitness 
World is able to attract and retain qualified employees. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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DIVERSITY 
The Company aims to appoint candidates with the best profiles and qualifications. In so doing, the 
Company takes gender into consideration only after ensuring that its other recruitment criteria, including 
requirements relating to professional qualifications, industry experience and educational background, 
have been met, as its most important consideration is to ensure that its board members and top 
executives have the right profiles. 
 
The Company is aiming to have one female member on the Board of Directors by 2019. Fitness World did 
not achieve this aim in 2016, but still intends to achieve it within the time frame laid down.  
 
The Company also intends to increase the share of women in Group Management as well as in the 
general management so that this reflects the share of women employed by Fitness World, which is 62%. 
In 2016, Management comprised 35% men and 65% women (including fitness centre managers). 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for ensuring that Fitness World maintains appropriate 
procedures for monitoring, measuring and managing the Company’s risks and that such procedures are 
firmly embedded in the Company’s organisation. A general description of risks is provided in the section 
“Risk management” on page 15-16.  

 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND DIVIDEND 
The Board regularly assesses whether the Company's capital structure is in line with the interests of the 
Company and its stakeholders. The overall objective is to ensure a capital structure that supports long-
term profitable growth. 

The Company's capital is divided into 200.000.000 shares with a nominal value of DKK 1. FSN Capital has 
control over the Company through its parent company, Forward TopCo A/S. 

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend be declared in respect of 
the financial year 2016 and that the consolidated loss of DKK 21 million be transferred to retained 
earnings. 

 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
Fitness World considers corporate social responsibility to be important. Fitness World’s commitment to 
the sustainable development of the Company is based on combining financial performance with socially 
responsible behaviour and environmental awareness.  

In 2016, Fitness World focused in particular on minimising its consumption of water and energy. As a 
result, costs were reduced in a number of areas, and the environmental impact was also reduced. 

Fitness World does not have an explicit CSR policy including human rights, environment and climate but 
aims to maintain and enhance its professional and commercial relations with internal and external 
stakeholders based on mutual respect. Fitness World endeavours to comply with applicable local and 
international legislation.  

Fitness World is also very aware of the risks of corruption, but since the Company operates in mature 
markets, a separate anti-corruption policy is not compiled. 

See FSN Capital's website, www.fsncapital.com, for a detailed description of social responsibility and 
ethical guidelines. 
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EXECUTIVE BOARD AND 
GROUP MANAGEMENT 
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Strengthening the leadership at Fitness World was a high priority in 2016. 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD  
 

STEEN ALBRECHTSLUND 
CEO, position held since October 2015 

Born: 1965, Danish/Hong Kong citizen 

Work experience: Senior Vice President at Fossil 
Inc., APAC (2012-2015), Group Managing Director at 
Skagen Designs (2007-2012), Commercial Director 
at Carlsberg Breweries (1995-2007).  

Board memberships: Performance Group 
Scandinavia A/S, Forward TopCo A/S, Pilgrim A/S, 
PILGRIM EXPORT ApS, Det rytmiske musikhus' fond, 
Tali Metals.  

 

 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD  
AND GROUP MANAGEMENT 



 FITNESS WORLD ANNUAL REPORT 2016  
 
 

 

 

24 

GROUP MANAGEMENT  
 
NIELS ELDRUP MEIDAHL  
CFO, position held since January 2017 

Born: 1973 

Educational background: M.Sc. in Finance and 
Accounting from the University of Southern Denmark 
and LL.M. (Master of Laws) from the University of 
Copenhagen. 

Work experience: CFO positions at Saint-Gobain 
Distribution Denmark (2014-2016), H+H A/S (2009-
2014), DSV Miljø A/S (2006-2009) and a position as 
Investor Relations manager at Novozymes A/S (2002-
2006). 

Board memberships: Frandsen EL A/S (Chairman), 
Soundear A/S (Chairman), Fitness World Group A/S, 
DanWEEE Recycling A/S. 

 

 

 

RIKKE SIGDAL 
Business Development Director, position held since 
December 2016 

Born: 1980 

Educational background: M.Sc. in Economics and 
Business Administration from Copenhagen Business 
School. 

Work experience: Principal Consultant at PA 
Consulting Group (2011-2016), Strategy Consultant 
at IBM (2007-2011).  
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PHILIP PHILIPSON 
CMO, position held since June 2016 

Born: 1969 

Educational background: M.Sc. in Marketing and 
Commercial Law from Copenhagen Business School. 

Work experience: Marketing Director at Boxer TV 
A/S (2011-2016), Nordic Marketing Manager at 
Coca-Cola (2001-2011), Digital & CRM Manager at 
Mercedes-Benz DK/SE (1999-2001). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LARS FRØDSTRUP 
Value Added Sales Director, position held since April 
2016 

Born: 1984 

Educational background: Copenhagen Business 
School. 

Work experience: Business & Sales Manager at Red 
Bull (2015-2016), Samsung Electronics (2012-
2015), Mondelēz International (2011-2012) and 
Innocent Drinks (2009-2011), Sales & Marketing at 
Toms Confectionery Group (2005-2009). 
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GITTE GLENTBORG INGWERSEN 
HR Director, position held since September 2015 

Born: 1975 

Educational background: Academy Profession in 
Human Resources from Business Academy Aarhus – 
a part of Aarhus Business School. 

Work experience: HR coordinator at Fitness World 
(2009-2015), Club Manager and HR assistant at 
Equinox Fitness (2006-2009). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JENS REFSING ANDERSEN 
COO, position held since 2008 

Born: 1975 

Educational background: Royal Veterinary and 
Agricultural University – Copenhagen. 

Work experience: Founded 10 fitness clubs (2005-
2008). 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
 

Note DKK ’000 

 
1 January –  

31 December  
2016 

30 March –  
31 December  

2015* 
  ________________________ ________________________ 
1 Revenue 1,102,649 611,283 
 Cost of sales -59,147 -32,584 
3 Other external costs -540,637 -315,935 
  ________________________ ________________________ 
 Gross profit 502,864 262,764 
2 Employee expenses -273,165 -148,197 
4 Amortisation, depreciation and impairment -200,382 -118,012 
 Other operating income 1,735 1,087 
 Other operating losses 0 -25,210 
  ________________________ ________________________ 
 Operating profit/loss 31,053 -27,568 
5 Financial income 20 0 
6 Financial expenses -54,092 -30,317 
  ________________________ ________________________ 
 Loss before tax -23,019 -57,885 
7 Income tax 1,832 3,395 
  _______________________ _______________________ 
 Loss for the year -21,187 -54,490 

  
_______________ 

 
_______________ 

 
    
 Attributable to:   
 Shareholders of the parent company -21.187 -54,490 
 
 

 ________________________ ________________________ 

  -21,187 -54,490 
  _______________ 

 
_______________ 

 
 * Activity from 29 May 2015. 

 
  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

Note DKK ’000 
31 December 

2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
  _______________________ _______________________ 
 Loss for the year -21,187 -54,490 
    
 Other comprehensive Income/loss   
 Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss 

in subsequent periods (net of tax):   
 Exchange differences in translation of foreign entities -381 0 
 Net gain/loss on cash flow hedges -3,861 -6,768 
7 Income tax 748 1,591 
  _______________________ _______________________ 
 Other comprehensive Income/loss for the year, net of 

tax -3,494 -5,177 
  _______________________ _______________________ 
 Total comprehensive Income/loss for the year, net of 

tax -24,681 -59,667 
  ______________ ______________ 
    
 Attributable to:   
 Shareholders of the parent company -24,681 -59,667 
  _______________________ _______________________ 
  -24,681 -59,667 
  ______________ ______________ 
    

 

 

STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 



 FITNESS WORLD ANNUAL REPORT 2016  
 
 

 

 

31 

 

BALANCE SHEET 
 

Note DKK ’000 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2015 30 March 2015 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 Assets    
 Non-current assets    
 9 Intangible assets 1,166,146 1,248,820 0 
11 Property, plant and equipment 476,627 510,110 0 
 Other non-current receivables 40,081 41,106 0 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 Total non-current assets 1,682,854 1,800,036 0 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 Current assets    
12 Inventories 18,276 21,998 0 
13 Trade receivables 31,898 17,841 0 
 Income tax receivable 10 0 0 
 Other receivables 54,483 35,931 0 
 Prepayments 7,324 10,829 0 
14 Cash 48,478 107,493 500 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 Total current assets 160,469 194,092 0 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 Total assets 1,843,323 1,994,128 500 
  ______________ ______________ ______________ 
     
     
 Liabilities    
 Equity    
25 Share capital 200,000 200,000 500 
 Hedging reserve -8,290 -5,177 0 
 Foreign exchange reserve -381 0 0 
 Retained earnings 502,823 524,010 0 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 Total equity 694,152 718,833 500 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 Non-current liabilities    
  8 Deferred tax liabilities 51,681 84,185 0 
17 Credit institutions 794,109 849,359 0 
16 Provisions 15,500 15,500  
 Other liabilities 517 512 0 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 Total non-current liabilities 861,807 949,556 500 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
     
 Current liabilities    
17 Credit institutions 68,874 64,006 0 
15 Trade payables 46,117 42,691 0 
16 Provisions 73,520 35,000 0 
 Income tax payable 28,641 39,716 0 
 Other liabilities 49,944 46,762 0 
 Deferred income 20,268 97,565 0 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 Total current liabilities 287,364 325,739 0 
  _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 Total liabilities 1,843,323 1,994,128 500 
  ______________ ______________ ______________ 
     

 

BALANCE SHEET 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

DKK ’000 
Issued 
capital 

Hedging 
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Proposed 
dividend 

Total 
equity 

 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Equity at 30 March 2015 500 0 0 0 0 500 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Loss for the year - 0 0 -54,490 0 -54,490 
       
Other comprehensive 
income       
Foreign currency translation of 
foreign entities - 0 0 0 0 0 
Value adjustment of hedging 
instruments  -6,768 0 0 0 -6,768 
Tax on other comprehensive 
income - 1,591 0 0 0 1,591 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Total other comprehensive 
income - -5,177 0 0 0 -5,177 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Total comprehensive income 
for the year - -5,177 0 -54,490 0 -59,667 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Transactions with owners       
Capital increase 199,500 0 0 578,500 0 778,000 
Dividend distributed - 0 0 0 0 0 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Total transactions with owners 199,500 0 0 578,500 0 778,000 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Equity at 31 December 
2015 200,000 -5,177 0 524,010 0 718,833 
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ ________ 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES  
IN EQUITY 
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DKK ’000 
Issued 
capital 

Hedging 
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Proposed 
dividend 

Total 
equity 

 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Equity at 1 January 2016 200,000 -5,177 0 524,010 0 718,833 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Loss for the year - 0 0 -21,187 0 -21,187 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Other comprehensive 
income       
Foreign currency translation of 
foreign entities - 0 -381 0 0 -381 
Value adjustment of hedging 
instruments - -3,861 0 0 0 -3,861 
Tax on other comprehensive 
income - 748 0 0 0 748 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Total other comprehensive 
income - -3,113 -381 0 0 -3,494 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Total comprehensive income 
for the year - -3,113 -381 -21,187 0 -24,681 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Transactions with owners       
Dividend distributed - 0 0 0 0 0 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Total transactions with owners - 0 0 0 0 0 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
Equity at 31 December 
2016 200,000 -8,290 -381 502,823 0 694,152 

 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

Note DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 Operating profit/loss 31,053 -27,568 
 Amortisation and  depreciation 200,382 118,012 
 Other adjustments of non-cash operating items 32,352 7,927 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working 

capital 263,787 98,371 
 Working capital adjustments   
 Change in trade and other receivables -5,178 41,064 
 Change in inventories 3,722 -3,530 
 Change in trade and other payables -84,447 70,952 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 Cash flow from operations 177,884 206,857 
 Interest expenses, paid -49,396 -27,505 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 Cash flow from ordinary activities 128,488 179,352 
 Income tax paid -41,008 -6,651 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 Cash flow from operating activities 87,480 172,701 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 Acquisition of intangible assets -450 0 
 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment* -63,931 -69,776 
 Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 916 106 
 Acquisition of activities -14,279 0 
21 Acquisition of subsidiaries 0 -1,315,604 
 Change in rental deposits 1,025 1,148 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 Cash flow from investing activities -76,719 -1,384,146 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 Repayment of long-term debt -69,771 -290,014 
 Increase in debt to credit institutions 0 830,452 
 Proceeds from share issue 0 778,000 
 Dividends paid 0 0 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 Cash flow from financing activities -54,853 1,321,438 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 Cash flows for the year -59,015 106,993 
14 Cash at 1 January 2016/30 March 2015 107,493 500 
    
 Cash at 31 December 48,478 107,493 
  ______________________ ______________________ 
 * Excluding finance lease assets with similar debt of DKK 

14,918 thousand (2015: 7,048 thousand).  
 

 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
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NOTES 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Note  
1 Revenue 
2 Employee expenses 
3 Fees paid to auditors appointed at the annual general meeting 
4 Amortisation and depreciation 
5 Financial income 
6 Financial expenses 
7 Income tax 
8 Deferred tax 
9 Intangible assets 
10 Impairment test 
11 Property, plant and equipment 
12 Inventories 
13 Trade receivables, current 
14 Cash 
15 Trade payables and other payables 
16 Provisions 
17 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
18 Financial assets and liabilities 
19 Financial risk management objectives and policies 
20 Capital management 
21 Business combinations 
22 Leases 
23 Commitments, contingencies, commitments and pledges, etc. 
24 Related party disclosures 
25 Issued capital 
26 Standards issued, but not yet effective  
27 Events after the reporting period  
28 Impact of transition to IFRS  
29 Accounting policies 
30 Significant accounting estimates and judgements 

 

 

NOTES 
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1 REVENUE 

 

DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
Revenues from subscriptions 983,046 564,380 
Sale of goods and merchandise 119,603 46,903 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
 1,102,649 611,283 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

 
 
2 EMPLOYEE EXPENSES 
 

DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
Wages and salaries 248,008 139,284 
Pensions, defined contribution plans 14,487 1,775 
Other expenses for social security 4,897 2,186 
Other employee expenses 5,773 4,952 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
 273,165 148,197 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Average number of full-time employees 867 898 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Remuneration to the Executive Board   
Wages and salaries 3,690 2,358 
Pensions, defined contribution plans 0 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
 3,690 2,358 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Remuneration to the Board of Directors    
Wages and salaries 388 125 
Pensions, defined contribution plans 0 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
 388 125 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
   
Key management personnel   
Wages and salaries 8,129 3,612 
Pensions, defined contribution plans 0 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
 8,129 3,612 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

 
Key management personnel comprises the CFO, BDD, CMO, COO, VAS Director and HR Director. 

The Executive Board and key management personnel are eligible for bonuses, depending on the result of 
operations and personal KPIs. 
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3 FEES PAID TO AUDITORS APPOINTED AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING 
 

DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
Statutory audit 566 775 
Other assurance services 0 130 
Tax and VAT advisory services 995 0 
Other services 983 735 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
 2,544 1,640 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

 
 
4 AMORTISATION AND DEPRECIATION  
 

DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
Amortisation of intangible assets  84,038 53,599 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 112,045 63,934 
Gain/loss 4,299 479 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
 200,382 118,012 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

 
 
5 FINANCIAL INCOME 
 

DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
Interest income 20 0 
   
Total financial income _____________________ _____________________ 
 20 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

 
 
6 FINANCIAL EXPENSES 
 

DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
Interest on debts and borrowings, etc. 49,520 27,506 
Amortisation of borrowing costs  4,476 2,611 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Total interest expense on debts and borrowings at amortised 
cost 53,996 30,117 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Currency loss, net 96 200 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Total financial expenses 54,092 30,317 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
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7 INCOME TAX 
 
The major components of income tax expense for the year ended 31 December:  

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
 

DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
Current income tax:   
Current income tax charge -29,361 -9,288 
Deferred tax:   
Changes in temporary differences 26,568 12,683 
Prior-year changes 4,625 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Income tax in the income statement 1,832 3,395 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
Income tax (actual and deferred tax) related to items 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income: 

  

Net gain/loss on value adjustment on hedging instruments, 
actual tax 748 1,591 
Net gain/loss on value adjustment on hedging instruments, 
deferred tax 

0 0 

 _____________________ _____________________ 

Income tax charged to other comprehensive income 748 1,591 

 _____________________ _____________________ 

   

Profit before tax -23,019 -57,885 

   

Calculated at Denmark's statutory income tax rate of 
22.0%/23.5% 5,064 13,603 

Tax rate deviations in foreign entities, net 0 0 

Tax impact from acquisition-related costs  0 -5,924 

Tax impact from other permanent differences, etc., net -7,857 -4,284 
Impact adjustment of prior-year deferred tax 4,625 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Income tax reported in the consolidated income 
statement 1,832 3,395 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
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8 DEFERRED TAX  
 
DEFERRED TAX IN 2015 RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING: 
 

DKK ’000 

Consolidated  
statement of  

financial position 

Consolidated income 
statement/other 

comprehensive income 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Intangible assets -81,889 -10,364 
Property, plant and equipment -31,598 870 
Provisions 11,110 -5,335 

Debt 17,648 3,670 

Other items 544 -1,524 

 _____________________ _____________________ 

Deferred tax expense (income) - -12,683 

  _____________________ 

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) -84,185  

 _____________________  

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows:   

Deferred tax assets 0  
Deferred tax liabilities -84,185  
 _____________________  
Deferred tax liabilities, net -84,185  
 _____________________  

 
DEFERRED TAX IN 2016 RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING: 
 

DKK ’000 

Consolidated  
statement of  

financial position 

Consolidated income 
statement/other 

comprehensive income 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Intangible assets -60,146 -21,742 
Property, plant and equipment -27,113 -4,388 
Provisions 22,994 -11,884 

Debt 11,813 5,114 

Other items 772 395 

Deferred tax to be refunded and has decreased other 
receivables - 1,412 

 _____________________ _____________________ 

Deferred tax expense (income)  -31,193 

  _____________________ 

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) -51,681  

 _____________________  

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows:   
Deferred tax assets 0  
Deferred tax liabilities -51,681  
 _____________________  

Deferred tax liabilities, net -51,681  
 _____________________  

 
The Group has carried forward losses on financial instruments with a taxable value of DKK 6 million 
(2015: DKK 2 million), which is not recognised, as its future utilisation is associated with uncertainty.  
The carry-forward period is limited to 2-3 years. 
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9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

DKK ’000 Goodwill 
Customer 

base Trademark Rights Total 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
Cost at 1 January 2016 886,803 337,695 77,921 0 1,302,419 
Additions 914 0 0 450 1,364 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
Cost at 31 December 2016 887,717 337,695 77,921 450 1,303,783 
      
Amortisation and impairment at 1 
January 2016 -4,409 -39,968 -9,222 

 
0 -53,599 

Amortisation 0 -67,539 -15,585 0 -83,124 
Impairment -914 0 0 0 -914 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
Amortisation and impairment at 31 
December 2016 -5,323 -107,507 -24,807 

 
0 -137,637 

 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
Carrying amount at  
31 December 2016 

 
882,394 230,188 53,114 

 
450 1,166,146 

 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 

Remaining amortisation period 
 

- 41 months 41 months 
 

60 months 
 

 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
      
Cost at 30 March 2015 0 0 0 0 0 
Additions from acquisitions 886,803 337,695 77,921 0 1,302,419 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
Cost at 31 December 2015 886,803 337,695 77,921 0 1,302,419 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
Amortisation and impairment at 30 
March 2015 0 0 0 

 
0 0 

Amortisation 0 -39,968 -9,222 0 -49,190 
Impairment -4,409 0 0 0 -4,409 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
Amortisation and impairment at 31 
December 2015 -4,409 -39,968 -9,222 

 
0 -53,599 

      
Carrying amount  
at 31 December 2015 882,394 297,727 68,699 

 
0 1,248,820 

 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 

Remaining amortisation period 
 

- 53 months 53 months 
 

- - 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
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10 IMPAIRMENT TEST 
 
Except for goodwill, all other intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortised according to the 
Group's accounting policies. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually.  

Goodwill acquired through business combinations with indefinite lives has been allocated to two cash-
generating units (CGUs), which are tested for impairment: 

• Denmark 

• Poland 

Other intangible assets comprising customer base, trademark and rights all relate to the activities in 
Denmark. 

The Group performed its annual impairment test of goodwill in December 2016. The Group considers the 
relationship between its value in use and its carrying amount, among other factors, when reviewing for 
evidence of impairment.  

No impairment was identified in respect of the CGU in Denmark. The acquired goodwill of DKK 904 
thousand in Poland (2015: DKK 4,409 thousand) has been impaired due to activities in Poland being loss-
making during the start-up phase. 

ESTIMATES USED TO MEASURE RECOVERABLE AMOUNT 
The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined on the basis of its value in use. The value in use is 
established using certain key assumptions as described below. The key assumptions are revenue growth, 
EBITDA and discount rates. 

Value-in-use cash flow projections are based on financial budgets approved by Management covering the 
subsequent financial year. The assumptions applied in the short to medium term are based on 
Management's expectations regarding the operational development and growth in product contribution. 
The terminal growth rates applied for periods beyond eight years do not exceed an expected weighted 
long-term average growth rate, including inflation, for the countries in which the Group operates. 
Management has used a budget period of eight years, as it expects continuing growth in Denmark 
followed by a stable period after eight years. 

Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks, taking into consideration the time 
value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash 
flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the Group's specific circumstances and is 
derived from its weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both debt and 
equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investments by investors.  

The specific discount rates, which are calculated net of tax, are generally based on a 10-year government 
bond. The cost of debt is based on the yield to maturity on 10-year Danish government bonds plus a 
credit risk premium measured by the spread between the yield to maturity of 10-year EUR-denominated 
corporate bonds issued by comparable companies and the yield to maturity of 10-year EUR-denominated 
German government bonds. A capital structure with a ratio of 70% between the market value of debt and 
equity value has been applied in the calculation based on the capital structure of comparable companies. 
A long-term market equity risk premium of 7.7% has been applied to reflect an expected long-term stock 
market return of 8%. 

Uncertainties reflecting historical performance and possible variations in the amount or timing of the 
future cash flows are generally reflected in the discount rates. 
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CARRYING AMOUNT OF GOODWILL ALLOCATED TO EACH OF THE CGUS AND KEY ASSUMPTIONS 
The carrying amount of goodwill and the key assumptions used in the impairment testing at  
31 December are presented below for each CGU: 

 

  Key assumptions applied 

DKK ’000 Goodwill 

Long-term 
growth in 

revenue 

Long-term 
growth in 

EBITDA 

Discount 
rate, 

net of tax 

 
Discount 

rate,  
pre-tax 

 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
Denmark 882,394 2% 2% 9.6% 11.6% 
Poland 0 n/a n/a n/a n/a 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ 
 882,394     
 ________________     

 
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 
A sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions in the impairment testing is presented below. The allowed 
change represents the percentage points by which the value assigned to the key assumption as applied in 
the expected long-term rate can change, all other things being equal, before the recoverable amount for 
the CGU in Denmark is equal to its carrying amount. 

 2016 
 Growth in revenue Growth in EBITDA Discount rate, net of tax 

DKK ’000 

Applied 
expected 

long-term 
 rate 

Allowed 
decrease 

Applied 
expected 

long-term 
rate 

Allowed 
decrease 

Applied 
rate 

Allowed 
increase 

 _______________ ________________ _______________ _______________ ________________ ________________ 
 

Denmark 2% 6.3% 2% 6.3% 9.6% 13.5% 
 
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Other intangible assets comprising customer base, trademark and rights show no evidence of 
impairment. 
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

DKK '000 
Other fixtures 

and fittings 
Leasehold 

improvements 

Leasehold 
improvements 

in progress Total 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Cost at 1 January 2016 285,555 282,087 5,976 573,618 
Exchange differences -633 -347 0 -980 
Additions 49,281 24,099 11,259 84,639 
Disposals -4,406 -6,771 0 -11,177 
Transfers 6,595 3,879 -5,976 4,498 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Cost at 31 December 2016 336,392 302,947 11,259 650,598 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Depreciation and impairment  
at 1 January 2016 -40,172 -23,336 0 -63,508 
Exchange differences 321 23 0 344 
Depreciation -66,196 -45,849 0 -112,045 
Disposals 1,390 4,346 0 5,736 
Transfers -5,250 752 0 -4,498 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Depreciation and impairment  
at 31 December 2016 -109,907 -64,064 0 -173,971 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Carrying amount at 31 December 
2016 226,485 238,883 11,259 476,627 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Additions on finance lease contracts 14,918 0 0 14,918 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Property, plant and equipment 
includes finance lease assets with a 
total carrying amount of 80,621 0 0 80,621 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
     
Cost at 30 March 2015 0 0 0 0 
Additions from acquisitions 242,340 245,674 0 488,014 
Additions 44,064 42,389 0 86,453 
Disposals -849 0 0 -849 
Transfer 0 -5,976 5,976 0 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Cost at 31 December 2015 285,555 282,087 5,976 573,618 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Depreciation and impairment  
at 30 March 2015 0 0 0 0 
Depreciation -40,598 -23,336 0 -63,934 
Disposals 426 0 0 426 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Depreciation and impairment  
at 31 December 2015 -40,172 -23,336 0 -63,508 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Carrying amount at 31 December 
2015 245,383 258,751 5,976 510,110 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Additions on finance lease contracts 7,048 0 0 7,048 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Property, plant and equipment 
includes finance lease assets with a 
total carrying amount of 111,988 0 0 111,988 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
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12 INVENTORIES 
 

DKK ’000 2016 2015 
 ________________________ ________________________ 
Trading goods 18,276 21,998 
 ________________________ ________________________ 

 
During 2016, DKK 2.2 million (2015: DKK 0.1 million) was charged to the income statement for 
damaged, obsolete and lost inventories, and DKK 59 million was expensed net, related to cost of sales 
(2015: DKK 33 million).  

 
13 TRADE RECEIVABLES, CURRENT 
 

DKK ’000 2016 2015 
 ________________________ ________________________ 
Trade receivables 23,465 17,841 
Trade receivables, group 8,433 0 
 ________________________ ________________________ 
 31,898 17,841 
 ________________________ ________________________ 

 
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and generally prepaid. At 31 December 2016, trade 
receivables of an initial value of DKK 5,7 million (2015: DKK 2,9 million) were impaired and fully provided 
for. See below for the movements in the allowance for impairment of receivables. 

DKK ’000 2016 2015 
 ________________________ ________________________ 
At 1 January 2016/30 March 2015 2,862 0 
Aquered from business combination 0 2,547 
Charge in the year 2,788 315 
 ________________________ ________________________ 
 5,650 2,862 

 ________________________ ________________________ 
 
At 31 December, the age analysis of trade receivables is as follows 

DKK ’000   Past due, but not impaired 

 Total 

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired < 30 days 

30-60 
days 

61-90 
days  > 91 days  

 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 
2016  23,465 0 14,594 3,884 1,785 3,202 
2015 17,841 0 9,587 6,936 1,318 0 

 
CUSTOMER CREDIT RISK 
Customer credit risk is managed at Group level subject to the Group's established policy, procedures and 
controls relating to customer credit risk management. The credit quality of customers is assessed based 
on analysis, and individual credit limits are set for each customer.  

Outstanding customer receivables are followed up on a regular basis, and provisions are made for bad 
debts every six months. The calculation is based on actual historical data. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of financial assets. 

The Group considers the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables to be low, as its 
customers are multiple individuals. 
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14 CASH 

 
DKK ’000 2016 2015 
 ________________________ ________________________ 
Cash 48,478 107,493 
 ________________________ ________________________ 

 

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

At 31 December 2016, the Group's undrawn committed borrowing facilities totalled DKK 100 million 
(2015: DKK 100 million). 

 
 
15 TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

DKK ’000 2016 2015 
 ________________________ ________________________ 
Trade payables 46,117 41,706 
Trade payables, group 0 508 
 ________________________ ________________________ 
 46,117 42,214 
 ________________________ ________________________ 

 
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on a 30- to 60-day term.  

 
 
16 PROVISIONS 
 

DKK '000 
Restoration 

provision Other provisions Total 
 ____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 
Provisions at 1 January 2016 15,500 35,000 50,500 
Arising during the year 0 38,520 38,520 
 ____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 
Provisions at 31 December 2016 15,500 73,520 89,020 
 ____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 

 

Distributed as follows in the balance sheet: 

DKK '000 
Restoration 

provision Other provisions Total 
 ____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 
Current 0 73,520 73,520 
Non-current 15,500 0 15,500 
 ____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 
 15,500 73,520 89,020 
 ____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 

 

Other provisions relate to provisions with regard to a dispute regarding VAT. 
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17 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS 
 

The Group has taken out the following interest-bearing loans and borrowings: 

 
Interest on the Facility A and Facility B loans is partly hedged with interest rate swaps for 68% of the 
loans (2015: 65%).   

Capitalised borrowing costs amounted to DKK 22,463 thousand (2015: DKK 26,939 thousand) at 31 
December 2016 and were amortised until the expiry date of the loans. Amortisation in 2016 amounted to 
DKK 4,476 thousand (2015: DKK 2,611 thousand). 

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings Expiry Floating rate 

Carrying amount 
2015 

Facility A By 2020 3.5% 310,000 
Facility B  By 2021 4.0% 550,000 
Finance lease liabilities By 2020 2-4% 80,217 
Other debt By 2021 (fixed) 8% 599 
   ____________________ 
   940,816 
   ____________________ 
    
Non-current   876,810 
Current   64,006 
   ____________________ 
   940,816 
   ____________________ 
    
Facility A  By 2020 3.5% 275,000 
Facility B   By 2021 4.0% 550,000 
Finance lease liabilities  By 2021 2-4% 60,446 
Other debt  By 2021 (fixed) 8% 517 
   ____________________ 
   885,963 
   ____________________ 
    
Non-current   812,613 
Current   73,350 
   ____________________ 
   825,000 
   ____________________ 
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18 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 

DKK '000 2016 2015 
   
   
   
   
Financial assets at amortised cost   
Trade receivables 31,898 17,841 
Other receivables  54,484 35,931 
Cash  48,478 107,493 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
 134,859 161,265 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
Financial liabilities at fair value    
Financial instruments measured at fair value 10,629 6,768 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost   
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 803,058 833,660 
Finance lease liabilities 60,446 80,217 
Trade payables (including group payables) 46,117 42,691 
Other payables (excluding financial instruments at fair value) 39,315 39,994 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
 948,932 996,562 
 ____________________ ____________________ 

 
The fair value of the assets and liabilities listed above is not materially different from the carrying 
amount, except for interest-bearing loans and borrowings: 

DKK '000 2016 2015 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (fair value) 825,000 860,000 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
 

FAIR VALUES 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE 
Financial instruments measured at fair value are limited to derivative instruments. As described below, 
the fair value of derivatives is based on observable market data and valuation techniques (level 2). The 
financial instruments are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST 
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments, measured at amortised cost, are reasonable 
approximations of fair values. 

VALUATION TECHNIQUES 
Management has assessed that cash, trade receivables, trade payables, bank overdrafts and other 
current liabilities approximate their carrying amounts, largely due to the short-term maturities of these 
instruments. 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values of other financial 
instruments: 

Floating-rate borrowings are evaluated by the Group based on parameters such as interest rates and 
Fitness World Group A/S's creditworthiness. The fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow 
model. The own non-performance risk at 31 December 2016 was assessed to be insignificant. 
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Derivative financial instruments with various counterparties are principally financial institutions with 
investment-grade credit ratings. The applied valuation techniques are discounted cash flow models, which 
incorporate various inputs, including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and 
forward rates, and interest rate curves. The changes in counterparty credit risk had no material effect on 
the hedge effectiveness assessment for derivatives designated in hedge relationships and other financial 
instruments recognised at fair value.  

Fair values of the Group's interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined according to the DCF 
method using a discount rate that reflects the issuer's borrowing rate at the end of the reporting period. 
The own non-performance risk at 31 December 2016 was assessed to be insignificant. 

 

 

19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
 

The Group's principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, trade 
and other payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group's operations. 
The Group has loans, trade and other receivables and cash that derive directly from its operations.  

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

It is the Group's policy not to trade in derivatives for speculative purposes. 

INTEREST RATE RISK 
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's 
long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

The Group enters into interest rate swaps to mitigate this risk, whereby the Group agrees to exchange, at 
specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable interest rate amounts calculated by 
reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated to hedge underlying 
debt obligations. Hence, changes in interest rates will not have any significant impact on profit or loss.  

CREDIT RISK 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risks from its operating 
activities (primarily trade receivables), including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign 
exchange transactions and other financial instruments. 

The credit risk relating to trade receivables is disclosed in note 13. 

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by Group Management on a 
regular basis. The cash balances are mainly concentrated at a single AA-rated counterparty. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risks arising from its operating and financing activities, as 
the Company has sales, purchases and financing in foreign currencies. In accordance with the Company's 
risk management policy, the Company hedges foreign currency risks arising from financing activities 
using interest rate swaps using forward exchange contracts. 

Currency risks are monitored several times per week and hedged using primarily financial instruments. 
The risk exposure is considered limited. 
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LIQUIDITY RISK 
The equity share of total equity and liabilities was 37.7% (2015: 36.0%) at the end of 2016. The Group's 
objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 
overdrafts, etc. 

The Group considers the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt to be low. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted payments. 

DKK '000 On demand 
3-12 

months 1-5 years > 5 years Total 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ______________ 
31 December 2015      
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 0 54,163 298,363 679,663 1,032,189 
Finance lease liabilities 0 34,396 48,326 0 82,722 
Interest rate swaps 0 4,337 4,999 0 9,336 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ______________ 
 0 92,896 351,688 679,663 1,124,247 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ______________ 
31 December 2016      

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 0 82,238 895,788 0 978,026 
Finance lease liabilities 0 32,524 29,734 0 62,258 
Interest rate swaps 0 3,718 1,571 0 5,289 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ______________ 
 0 118,480 927,093 0 1,045,573 
 ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________ ______________ 

 

The senior debt facilities are subject to financial covenants, which include debt and interest coverage 
ratios and cash flow and investment ratios. At 31 December 2016, the Group complied with the financial 
covenants. 

INTEREST RATE HEDGING 
The amount recognised in other comprehensive income at 31 December 2016 is DKK 10,629 thousand 
(2015: DKK 6,768 thousand). 

31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

 DKK '000 2015 

Fair value of derivatives Assets Liabilities 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
Interest rate swaps  - 6,768 

 

31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

DKK '000 2016 

Fair value of derivatives Assets Liabilities 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
Interest rate swaps  - 10,629 

 

 



 FITNESS WORLD ANNUAL REPORT 2016  
 
 

 

 

52 

20 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to maximise shareholder value.  

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group's capital management aims, for example, to ensure 
that it meets financial covenants connected with the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define 
capital structure requirements. Failure to meet the financial covenants would permit the bank to call in 
loans and borrowings.  

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic 
conditions and the requirements of the financial covenants. The Group monitors capital using a gearing 
ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash. 

DKK '000 2016 2015 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 803,054 833,660 
Trade payables 46,117 42,690 
Other payables 49,944 46,762 
Less cash  -48,478 -107,493 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
Net debt 850,637 815,620 
Equity 694,152 718,833 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
Total capital and net debt 1,544,789 1,534,453 
 ___________________ ___________________ 
Gearing ratio 0.55 0.53 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
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21 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
 

Fitness World A/S was acquired for a cash consideration at 29 May 2015, and the Group was established. 
The Company is 100% owned by Fitness World Group A/S, which is a 100%-owned subsidiary of Forward 
TopCo A/S. Fitness World offers well-invested fitness clubs with state-of-the-art equipment and a 
comprehensive set of group training classes in convenient locations and at non-binding affordable prices. 
Fitness World has fitness clubs in Denmark and Poland. 

SPECIFICATION OF RECOGNISED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ON THE DATE OF ACQUISITION 

 

Recognition of fair value of the identified net assets is based on available information at the acquisition 
date. In the event of new information being received, the recognition is changed within a one-year 
measurement period. Goodwill represents future expected earnings (new customers), work force, etc. 
Most goodwill is non-tax-deductible. 

The purchase price paid for Fitness World A/S and its subsidiaries was DKK 1,311 million. Furthermore, a 
small company in Poland was acquired for DKK 4.4 million, all included as goodwill. The acquisition costs 
amount to DKK 25 million, which is recognised in the income statement. The net assets are listed above. 

The revenue for the ownership period is DKK 611 million (full-year revenue: DKK 1,051 million) and the 
gross profit is DKK 262 million (full-year gross profit: DKK 470 million) 

 

 

 2015 
 _______________________ 
Intangible assets 415,616 
Property, plant and equipment 488,014 
Other non-current receivables 42,254 
Inventories 18,468 
Receivables 99,046 
Cash and cash equivalents 10,071 
Credit institutions -363,781 
Deferred tax liabilities -96,868 
Provisions -26,389 
Trade payables -29,162 
Company tax -38,670 
Other liabilities -15,425 
Deferred income -40,051 
 _______________________ 
Net assets acquired 463,123 
Goodwill 886,803 
 _______________________ 
Consideration 1,349,926 
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary included in cash flows from investing activities  -10,071 
Of which not paid   -24,251 
 _______________________ 
Net cash outflow 1,315,604 
 _______________________ 
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22 LEASES 
 
FINANCE LEASES 
The Group has entered into finance leases for fitness equipment. 

Liabilities with regard to finance leases are included under debt to credit institutions:  

 2016 2015 

DKK '000 
Minimum lease 

payments 

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments 
Minimum lease 

payments 

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments 
 _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
0-1 year 31,577 31,577 33,394 33,394 
1-5 years 28,869 27,802 46,823 45,093 
> 5 years 0 0 0 0 
 _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
 60,446 59,379 80,217 78,487 
Interest element 1,813 1,746 2,407 2,318 
 _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 
Present value of 
minimum lease 
payments 62,259 61,125 82,624 80,805 
 _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ _______________________ 

 
OPERATING LEASES 
The Group leases spaces and cars under operating leases. The leasing period is typically between three 
and 10 years, with the option to extend the leases.  

Non-cancellable operating lease payments are as follows: 

DKK ’000 2016 2015 
 ______________________ ______________________ 
0-1 year 248,468 236,820 
1-5 years 695,117 704,334 
> 5 years 252,350 291,178 
 ______________________ ______________________ 
 1,195,935 1,232,332 
 _______________________ _______________________ 

 
For 2016, DKK 278 million was recognised (30 March – 31 December 2015: DKK 161 million) in the 
income statement with regard to operating leases. 
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23 COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, COMMITMENTS AND PLEDGES, ETC. 
 
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
The Company is jointly taxed with the Danish companies in the Group. The Company, together with the 
other companies in the Group, is liable for corporate taxes and withholding taxes on dividends, interest 
and royalties within the joint taxation.  

There is an ongoing tax audit in the Group, for which Management has recognised DKK 71 million (2015: 
DKK 35 million) to cover the costs related to 2013-2016. There is uncertainty with regard to this. 

PLEDGES AND SECURITIES 
The Company is jointly and severally liable for the Group's bank loans of DKK 825 million (2015: DKK 
860 million). 

The Company has executed a share pledge over its shares in Fitness World A/S as security for loans 
under the Facility Agreement.  

Other fixtures and fittings, where the carrying amount at 31 December 2016 amounts to DKK 80 million 
(2015: DKK 112 million), are financed by finance leases, where the lease obligation at 31 December 2016 
amounts to DKK 60 million (2015: DKK 80 million). 

 
 
24 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES  
 

The financial statements include the financial statements of the Group and the subsidiaries in the 
following table: 

 
TRANSACTIONS WITH EXECUTIVE BOARD AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
The remuneration as disclosed in note 2 relates only to transactions with the Executive Board and key 
management personnel in 2015 and 2016. 

Fitness World A/S leases certain offices used for fitness centre facilities under normal lease agreements 
which expire at various dates between 2018 and 2028. Some of the lease agreements are with related 
parties, and related-party rent expense for the fiscal year ended 2016 was DKK 13.4 million (2015: DKK 
8.0 million). 

THE ULTIMATE PARENT 
The parent company is Forward TopCo A/S, Kongens Nytorv 26, 2., 1050 Copenhagen K, Denmark, and 
the ultimate parent of the Group is FSN Capital GP IV Limited, 11-15 Seaton Place, St. Helier, JE4 0QH 
Jersey, UK. There were no transactions between the Group and FSN Capital GP IV Limited in either 2015 
or 2016. 

Consolidated financial statements are prepared for Forward TopCo A/S as the ultimate parent company 
and can be received by contacting the Company. 

Name Principal activities 
Country of 

incorporation 

% equity  
interest  

2015 and 2016 
Fitness World A/S Gym activities Denmark 100.00% 
Fitness World Sp. z o.o. Gym activities Poland 100.00% 



 FITNESS WORLD ANNUAL REPORT 2016  
 
 

 

 

56 

25 ISSUED CAPITAL  
 
AUTHORISED SHARES 
 
DKK ’000 2016 2015 
 ______________________ ______________________ 
A shares 200,000 200,000 
 ______________________ ______________________ 
 200,000 200,000 
 ______________________ ______________________ 

 

Ordinary shares are fully paid in. 

DKK ’000  Share capital 
  ______________________ 
At 30 March 2015  500 
Capital increase, 29 May 2015  199,500 
  ______________________ 
At 1 January 2016  200,000 
Capital increase  0 
  ______________________ 
At 31 December 2016  200,000 
  ______________________ 

 
Each class A share carries one vote. The nominal value of each share is DKK 1. 

 

 

26 STANDARDS ISSUED, BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
Group's financial statements are as follows:  

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and subsequent amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and IAS 39 

• IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and subsequent amendments to IFRS 15 

• IFRS 16 Leases 

• IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale of Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture – Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 

• IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses — Amendments to IAS 12 

• IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative and subsequent amendments to IAS 7 

Of these, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments have been 
approved by the EU. 

In the opinion of Management, none of the new standards and interpretations will materially impact the 
recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities in the financial statements in the coming financial 
years, but further analyses will be prepared. 
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27 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 

No events have occurred after the balance sheet date to date that would influence the evaluation of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

 

 
28 IMPACT OF TRANSITION TO IFRS 
 

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 with comparative figures are the first set 
of financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as endorsed by the EU. For periods up to and 
including the year ended 31 December 2016, Fitness World Group A/S prepared its financial statements 
in accordance with the Danish Financial Statements Act. 

Accordingly, Fitness World Group A/S has prepared financial statements which comply with IFRS 
applicable for periods ending at or after 31 December 2016, together with the comparative period at and 
for the period 30 March – 31 December 2015, as described in the summary of significant accounting 
policies. In preparing these financial statements, the opening balance sheet of Fitness World Group A/S 
was prepared at 30 March 2015, the date of transition to IFRS. This note explains the principal 
adjustments made by Fitness World Group A/S in restating its financial statements prepared in 
accordance with the Danish Financial Statements Act, including the balance sheet at 30 March 2015 and 
the financial statements at and for the year ended 31 December 2015. 

EXEMPTIONS APPLIED 
IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the retrospective application of certain 
requirements under IFRS. 

For the purpose of preparing these consolidated financial statements, Fitness World Group A/S has not 
applied any exemptions. 
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BALANCE SHEET AT 30 MARCH 2015 
 

Note DKK ’000 DK GAAP 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 
IFRS 30 March 

2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Assets    
 Non-current assets    
 Intangible assets 0 0 0 
 Property, plant and equipment 0 0 0 
 Other non-current receivables 0 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total non-current assets 0 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Current assets    
 Inventories 0 0 0 
 Trade receivables 0 0 0 
 Income tax receivable 0 0 0 
 Other receivables 0 0 0 
 Prepayments 0 0 0 
 Cash 500 0 500 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total current assets 500 0 500 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total assets 500 0 500 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 

BALANCE SHEET AT 30 MARCH 2015 
 

Note DKK ’000 DK GAAP 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 
IFRS 30 March 

2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Liabilities    
 Equity    
 Share capital 500 0 500 
 Hedging reserve 0 0 0 
 Foreign exchange reserve 0 0 0 
 Retained earnings 0 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total equity 500 0 500 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Non-current liabilities    

 Deferred tax liabilities 0 0 0 

 Credit institutions 0 0 0 

 Other liabilities 0 0 0 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total non-current liabilities 0 0 0 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Current liabilities    
 Credit institutions 0 0 0 
 Trade payables 0 0 0 
 Provisions 0 0 0 
 Income tax payable 0 0 0 
 Other liabilities 0 0 0 
 Deferred income 0 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total current liabilities 0 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total liabilities 500 0 500 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

Note DKK ’000 DK GAAP 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 

IFRS 
31 December 

2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Assets    
 Non-current assets    
A,B,C Intangible assets 1,239,582 9,238 1,248,820 
 Property, plant and equipment 510,110 0 510,110 
 Other non-current receivables 41,106 0 41,106 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total non-current assets 1,790,798 9,238 1,800,036 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Current assets    

 Inventories 21,998 0 21,998 

 Trade receivables 17,841 0 17,841 

 Income tax receivable 0 0 0 

C Other receivables 15,456 20,475 35,931 

 Prepayments 10,829 0 10,829 

 Cash 107,493 0 107,493 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total current assets 173,617 20,475 194,092 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total assets 1,964,415 29,713 1,994,128 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
     
 Liabilities    
 Equity    
 Share capital 200,000 0 200,000 
 Hedging reserve -5,177 0 -5,177 
 Foreign exchange reserve 0 0 0 
A,B Retained earnings 494,297 29,713 524,010 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total equity 689,120 29,713 718,833 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Non-current liabilities    
 Deferred tax liabilities 84,185 0 84,185 
 Credit institutions 849,359 0 849,359 
 Other liabilities 512 0 512 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
  934.056  934.056 
 Total non-current liabilities 934,056 0 934,056 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Current liabilities    

 Credit institutions 64,006 0 64,006 

 Trade payables (including group trade payables) 42,690 0 42,690 

 Provisions 50,500 0 50,500 

 Income tax payable 39,716 0 39,716 

 Other liabilities 46,762 0 46,762 

 Deferred income 97,565 0 97,565 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total current liabilities 341,239 0 341,239 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total liabilities 1,964,415 29,713 1,994,128 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
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INCOME STATEMENT 30 MARCH – 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

Note DKK ’000 DK GAAP 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 

IFRS 30 March – 
31 December 

2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Revenue 611,283 0 611,283 
 Cost of sales -32,584 0 -32,584 
 Other external costs -315,935 0 -315,935 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Gross profit 262,764 0 262,764 
 Employee expenses -148,197 0 -148,197 
A Amortisation, depreciation and impairment -172,935 54,923 -118,012 

 Other operating income 1,087 0 1,087 

B Other operating losses 0 -25,210 -25,210 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Operating profit -57,281 29,713 -27,568 

 Financial income 0 0 0 

 Financial expenses -30,317 0 -30,317 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Loss before tax -87,598 29,713 -57,885 

 Income tax expense 3,395 0 3,395 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Loss for the year -84,203 29,713 -54,490 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 
 

Note DKK ’000 DK GAAP 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 

IFRS 30 March – 
31 December 

2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Loss for the year -84,203 29,713 -54,490 
 Other comprehensive income to be reclassified 

to profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of 
tax):    

 Exchange differences in translation of foreign 
entities 0 0 0 

 Net gain/loss on cash flow hedges -6.768 0 -6,768 
 Income tax 1.591 0 1,591 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Other comprehensive loss for the year, net 
of tax -5,177 0 -5,177 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total comprehensive loss for the year, net 
of tax -89,380 29,713 -59,667 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
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EFFECT OF TRANSITION 
A. Amortisation of goodwill under the Danish Financial Statements Act is reversed under IFRS, as 

goodwill is tested for impairment annually.  

B. Acquisition cost has been capitalised as part of goodwill under the Danish Financial Statements Act, 
but under IFRS the acquisition cost should be expensed in the income statement. 

RECLASSIFICATIONS 
Apart from changes in accounting policies, the following reclassifications and changes in format, including 
restatement of comparative figures for 2015, have been made: 

1. Receivable from previous owner has been reclassified from goodwill to other receivables due to a 
classification error. 

• The income statement has been presented in a different order.   

• Assets are presented as either non-current or current assets, compared to fixed assets and current 
assets previously. 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
The transition from the Danish Financial Statements Act to IFRS has changed the classification of new 
leases, which has been off set between investment and financing cash flow of DKK 7,048 thousand. 

 

 

29 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The Group is incorporated and domiciled in Denmark. The registered office is located in Copenhagen. The 
comparative figures are for a nine-month period only (30 March – 31 December 2015) since the 
establishment of the Company and for seven months of operations only (29 May – 31 December 2015). 
Hence comparative figures for the income statement cannot be compared on a like-for-like basis.   

The consolidated financial statements of Fitness World Group A/S and its subsidiaries have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and 
additional requirements according to the Danish Financial Statements Act.  

The financial statements have been prepared based on the standards and interpretations that are 
effective at 31 December 2016. There has been no impact from the implementation of the standards and 
interpretations. 

For the period 30 March 2015 – 31 December 2015, the Group prepared its financial statements in 
accordance with the Danish Financial Statements Act. The financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2016 are the first financial statements which the Group has prepared in accordance with 
IFRS as adopted by the EU. Please refer to note 28 for information on how the Group adopted IFRS. 

The comparative figures for 2015 cover the period 30 March 2015 – 31 December 2015. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in DKK, which is the parent company's functional 
currency and the presentation currency of the Group, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
(DKK ’000), except where otherwise indicated. 

The Board of Directors considered and approved the 2016 Annual Report of Fitness World Group A/S on 
31 May 2017. The Annual Report will be submitted to the shareholders of Fitness World Group A/S for 
approval at the Annual General Meeting on 31 May 2017. 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries 
at 31 December 2016. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or is entitled, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee) 

• Exposure, or entitlement, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this 
presumption, and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an 
investee, including: 

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee 

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements  

• The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when 
the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control over the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control and until 
the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION 
For each of the reporting entities in the Group, a functional currency is determined. The functional 
currency is the primary currency used for the reporting entity’s operations. Transactions denominated in 
currencies other than the functional currency are considered transactions denominated in foreign 
currencies. 

On initial recognition, transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rates at the transaction date. Foreign exchange differences arising between the 
exchange rates at the transaction date and at the date of payment are recognised in the income 
statement as financial income or financial expenses. 

Receivables, payables and other monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The difference between the exchange rates at the end 
of the reporting period and at the date at which the receivable or payable arose or the exchange rate in 
the latest consolidated financial statements is recognised in the income statement as financial income or 
financial expenses. 

On recognition in the consolidated financial statements of entities with a functional currency other than 
the presentation currency of Fitness World Group A/S (DKK), the income statement is translated at the 
exchange rates at the transaction date, and the statement of financial position items are translated at the 
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. An average exchange rate for the month is used as the 
exchange rate at the transaction date to the extent that this does not significantly deviate from the 
exchange rate at the transaction date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation of the opening 
balance of equity of foreign entities at the exchange rates at the end of the reporting period and on 
translation of the income statement from the exchange rates at the transaction date to the exchange 
rates at the end of the reporting period are recognised in other comprehensive income and attributed to a 
separate translation reserve in equity. 
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Foreign exchange adjustment of balances with foreign entities which are considered part of the 
investment in the entity is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in other comprehensive 
income if the balance is denominated in the functional currency of the parent company or the foreign 
entity. 

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value, and 
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group 
elects whether it will measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and 
included in the separate income statement caption “Other operating losses”. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions at the acquisition date. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to 
be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 under the separate income statement 
caption “Other operating losses”. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred 
and the amount recognised for the non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed 
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in such 
circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of 
the cash-generating unit retained. 

 

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The Group recognises derivatives at the transaction date. Derivative financial instruments are measured 
at fair value at initial recognition and at each reporting date. 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate 
risks. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a 
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried 
as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is 
negative. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the income 
statement, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other 
comprehensive income (OCI). 

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as: 

Cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability in future cash flows that is either attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or 
the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment. 
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Cash flow hedges which meet the criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows: 

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OCI in the cash flow 
hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement as 
financial expenses. 

The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk in forecast 
transactions and firm commitments. The ineffective portion relating to foreign currency contracts is 
recognised as financial expenses.  

Amounts recognised as OCI are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged transaction affects profit or 
loss, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expenses are recognised or when a forecast 
sale occurs. Amounts previously recognised in OCI are transferred to the same item as the hedged item 
when the hedged item impacts the income statement. 

 

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 
interest. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable 

• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above. 
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INCOME STATEMENT 
 

REVENUE 
The sale of goods and merchandise is recognised in the income statement provided risks and rewards 
have been transferred to the buyer before year-end and provided the income can be reliably measured 
and is expected to be received. 

Revenues from subscriptions are recognised in the income statement over the subscription period.  

Revenue is measured at fair value of the agreed consideration, excluding VAT and taxes charged on 
behalf of third parties. All discounts and rebates granted are recognised in revenue. 

COST OF SALES 
Cost of sales comprises expenses incurred in generating the revenue for the year. 

OTHER EXTERNAL COSTS 
Other external costs comprise items secondary to the principal activities of the entities, including sales 
costs, advertisement, administration, premises, write-down on receivables, operating leases, etc. 

EMPLOYEE EXPENSES 
Employee expenses comprise the wages and salaries, including holiday pay and pensions as well as other 
expenses for social security, etc. of the employees.  

OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES  
Other operating income and expenses comprise income and expenses not directly related to daily 
operations. 

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 
Financial income and expenses comprise interest income and expenses, gains and losses on receivables, 
payables and transactions denominated in foreign currencies, amortisation of financial assets and 
liabilities as well as surcharges and refunds under the on-account tax scheme, etc.  

TAXES OF PROFIT/LOSS 
Taxes of profit/loss comprise current income and changes in deferred taxes (deferred taxes are described 
in a separate section). 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to calculate the amount 
are those that are enacted, or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries in which the 
Group operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in OCI or equity is recognised in OCI or equity 
and not in the income statement. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns 
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation, and establishes 
provisions where appropriate. 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Other comprehensive income consists of income and costs not recognised in the income statement, 
including exchange rate adjustments arising from the translation from functional currency to presentation 
currency and fair value adjustments of hedging instruments. 

In the event of the disposal of an entity, the accumulated exchange rate adjustment relating to the 
relevant entity is reclassified to the income statement. 

BALANCE SHEET 
 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost on initial recognition. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation (for intangible assets with 
finite lives) and any accumulated impairment losses. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over their useful lives and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and 
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of 
each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense 
on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the income statement as amortisation. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, 
either individually or at cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 
to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from 
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income 
statement when the asset is derecognised. 

A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s intangible assets is as follows: 

• Goodwill – indefinite 

• Customer base – amortised on a straight-line basis over five years 

• Trademarks – amortised on a straight-line basis over five years 

• Rights – amortised on a straight-line basis over five years 

GOODWILL 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually (at 31 December) and when circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may be impaired.  

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount, being the higher of value in 
use and fair value less cost of disposal of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) 
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its 
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be 
reversed in future periods. 
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OTHER INTANGIBLES 
Other intangibles, comprising customer base, trademarks and rights, are also tested for impairment when 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Other fixtures and fittings and leasehold improvements are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  

Cost comprises the purchase price and any costs directly attributable to the acquisition until the date 
when the asset is available for use.  

The cost of assets held under finance leases is recognised at the lower of fair value of the assets and the 
present value of the future minimum lease payments. For the calculation of the net present value, the 
interest rate implicit in the lease or the Group's incremental borrowing rate is used as the discount rate. 

Subsequent costs, for example in connection with replacement of components of property, plant and 
equipment, are recognised in the carrying amount of the asset if it is probable that the costs will result in 
future economic benefits for the Group. The replaced components are derecognised in the statement of 
financial position, and the carrying amount is recognised in the income statement. All other expenses 
relating to ordinary repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Where individual components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, 
they are depreciated separately. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the expected 
useful lives of the assets/components. The expected useful lives are as follows: 

Other fixtures and fittings 3-7 years 
Leasehold improvements 5-10 years 

 

Depreciation is calculated on the basis of the residual value and impairment losses, if any. The 
depreciation period and the residual value are determined at the acquisition date and are reassessed 
annually. If the residual value exceeds the carrying amount, depreciation is discontinued. 

When the depreciation period or the residual value is changed, the effect on depreciation is recognised 
prospectively as a change in accounting estimates. 

Depreciation charges are recognised in the income statement as amortisation and depreciation. 

LEASES 
For financial reporting purposes, lease liabilities are classified as finance lease liabilities and operating 
lease liabilities. 

A finance lease is classified as a lease which, in all material respects, transfers the risk and benefits 
associated with ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 

The accounting treatment of assets held under finance leases and lease liabilities is described under 
property, plant and equipment and financial liabilities respectively. 

Operating lease payments are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 



 FITNESS WORLD ANNUAL REPORT 2016  
 
 

 

 

68 

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS  
 
GOODWILL  
Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test, initially before the end of the acquisition year. 

The carrying amount of goodwill is tested for impairment together with the other non-current assets of 
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated. The assets of 
the cash-generating units are written down to the recoverable amount in the income statement if the 
carrying amount is higher. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is generally determined as 
the present value of the expected future net cash flows from the entity or activity (cash-generating unit) 
to which the goodwill relates. 

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
The carrying amount of other non-current assets is tested annually for evidence of impairment. When 
there is evidence that assets may be impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is calculated. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less expected costs to sell and its value in use.  

Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

RECOGNITION OF IMPAIRMENT LOSSES IN THE INCOME STATEMENT 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds the 
recoverable amount of the asset or the cash-generating unit. Impairment losses on goodwill are 
recognised in the income statement as amortisation, depreciation and impairment. 

Impairment of goodwill is not reversed. Impairment losses recognised in respect of other assets are 
reversed insofar as the assumptions and estimates underlying the impairment losses have changed. 
Impairment losses are reversed only insofar as the new carrying amount of the asset does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have resulted (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss 
been recognised in respect of the asset in prior years. 

INVENTORIES 
Merchandise and goods are measured at cost in accordance with the FIFO method. Where the net 
realisable value is lower than cost, inventories are written down to this lower value. 

Merchandise and goods are measured at cost, comprising purchase price plus delivery costs. 

RECEIVABLES 
Receivables are measured at amortised cost.  

An impairment loss is recognised if there is objective evidence that a receivable or a group of receivables 
has been impaired. If there is objective evidence that an individual receivable has been impaired, an 
impairment loss is recognised on an individual basis. 

PREPAYMENTS 
Prepayments comprise expenses incurred concerning subsequent financial years.  
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EQUITY 
 

HEDGE TRANSACTION RESERVE 
The hedge transaction reserve contains the accumulated net change in the fair value of hedging 
transactions that meet the criteria for hedging future cash flows and for which the hedged transaction has 
yet to be realised.  

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE 
The exchange adjustment reserve in the consolidated financial statements comprises exchange 
differences arising on the translation of the financial statements of foreign enterprises from their 
functional currencies into Danish kroner, including exchange differences on financial instruments 
considered to be a part of the net investment or as hedging of the net investment. On realisation, 
accumulated value adjustments are taken from equity to financial items in the income statement. 

DIVIDEND 
A dividend proposed for the year is recognised as a liability at the date when it is adopted at the annual 
general meeting (declaration date). A dividend expected to be distributed for the year is disclosed as a 
separate item under equity. 

PROVISIONS 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a current legal or constructive obligation and include 
warranty and restoration provisions. Provisions are recognised on the basis of best estimates. 

DEFERRED TAX 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries when the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused 
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, can be utilised, except: 

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax 
assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in 
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised. 
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date 
and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. 
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in 
equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same tax authority. 

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate 
recognition at that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances 
changes. The adjustment is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed the 
goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period and relates to new information about facts 
and circumstances at the acquisition date, or recognised in the income statement. 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities on initial 
recognition. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, after 
initial recognition at amortised cost. This includes directly attributable transaction and borrowing costs. 

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank overdrafts, loans and borrowings 
and derivative financial instruments. 

Trade and other payables, bank overdrafts, loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expires. 

DEFERRED INCOME 
Prepayments recognised under liabilities comprise received payments concerning revenue in subsequent 
years. 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
The cash flow statement shows the Group’s cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities 
for the year, the year’s changes in cash and cash equivalents as well as the Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents at the beginning and end of the year. 

The cash flow effect of acquisitions and disposals of entities is shown separately in cash flows from 
investing activities. Cash flows from acquisitions are recognised in the cash flow statement from the date 
of acquisition. Cash flows from disposals of entities are recognised up until the date of disposal. 
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Cash flows from operating activities are calculated as the Group's share of the profit/loss adjusted for 
non-cash operating items, changes in working capital and income taxes paid. 

Cash flows from investing activities comprise payments in connection with acquisitions and disposals of 
entities, activities and intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investments. 

Cash flows from financing activities comprise changes in the size or composition of the Group's share 
capital and related costs as well as the raising of loans, repayment of interest-bearing debt and payment 
of dividends to shareholders. 

Cash flows from assets held under finance leases are recognised as payment of interest and repayment of 
debt. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term marketable securities with a term of three 
months or less which, without any hindrance, can be converted to cash and which are subject to only 
minor risks of changes in value. 

FINANCIAL RATIOS  
The financial ratios have been calculated in accordance with the Danish Finance Society’s guidelines on 
the calculation of financial ratios, “Recommendations and Financial Ratios 2015”.   

The financial ratios stated are calculated as follows: 

GROSS MARGIN GROSS PROFIT X 100 REVENUE 
SOLVENCY RATIO EQUITY, END X 100 TOTAL LIABILITIES END 
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30 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
 

When preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Group, Management undertakes a number 
of accounting estimates and judgements to recognise, measure and classify the Group's assets and 
liabilities. 

The most significant areas subject to estimates and judgements are mentioned below. 

VALUATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over their useful lives and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and 
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of 
each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense 
on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the income statement as amortisation. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, 
either individually or at cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 
to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from 
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

The estimated value in use is calculated on the basis of the expected free cash flow from the relevant 
cash-generating unit based on updated budgets for the next eight years. The calculated value in use is 
based on a number of assumptions and is, by nature, subject to uncertainty. The key assumptions are 
disclosed and further explained in note 10. 

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
The allocation of the acquisition cost to the fair value of the acquired assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities and thus to goodwill, including the allocation to cash-generating units, may have a significant 
impact on future profits. Fair values are based on estimates using information available at the time 
control was achieved. When part of the acquisition cost for entities acquired is dependent on the 
development in future profits, estimates are made of the most probable value of the contingent 
acquisition cost based on current forecasts. Please refer to note 21 for information about business 
combinations. 

INVENTORIES 
Write-down for obsolete inventories is carried out on the basis of an assessment of their recoverability at 
the reporting date. Inventories are analysed and written down, if necessary. Movements in inventory 
write-downs are reflected in note 12.  

RECEIVABLES 
Impairment and write-downs of receivables are carried out on the basis of an assessment of objective 
evidence of impairment and their recoverability at the reporting date. Trade receivables are analysed and 
impaired, if necessary. An analysis of overdue trade receivables and movements in the provisions for bad 
debts is shown in note 13. 
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE PARENT COMPANY 
 

Note DKK ’000 31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ 
 Revenue 3,690 702 
1 Employee expenses -3,690 -702 
 Other external costs -212 -2,199 
 Other operating income 835 0 
 Other operating expenses 0 -25,210 
  _____________________ _____________________ 
 Operating profit/loss 623 -27,409 

 Dividend 65,000 0 

2 Financial income 659 1,958 

3 Financial expenses -42,506 -24,531 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 Profit/loss before tax 23,776 -49,982 

4 Income tax 5,246 3,923 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 Profit/loss for the year 29,022 -46,059 

  _____________________  _____________________  

    

 Proposed distribution of profit/loss   

 Retained earnings 29,022 -46,059 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

  29,022 -46,059 

  _____________________ _____________________ 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

Note DKK ’000 31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ 
 Profit/loss for the year 29,022 -46,059 
    
 Other comprehensive income   
 Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to 

profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax):   
 Exchange differences in translation of foreign 

entities 0 0 
 Net gain/loss on cash flow hedges -3,861 -6,768 
4 Income tax 748 1,591 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, 
net of tax -3,113 -5,177 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total comprehensive income for the year, net of 
tax 25,909 -51,236 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 Attributable to:   

 Shareholders of the parent company 25,909 -51,236 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

  25,909 -51,236 

  _____________________ _____________________ 
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BALANCE SHEET 
 

Note DKK ’000 
31 December 

2016 

30 March –  
31 December 

2015 30 March 2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 ASSETS    
 Non-current assets    
5 Investments in subsidiaries 1,515,038 1,520,043 0 
 Deferred tax asset 1,294 574 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total non-current assets 1,516,332 1,514,842 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Current assets    

 Receivables from subsidiaries 21,886 45,069 0 

 Income tax receivable 5,274 4,939 0 
 Other receivables 25,460 20,475 0 
 Cash 8,261 1,022 500 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total current assets 60,881 71,505 500 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total assets 1,577,213 1,592,122 500 
     
     
 Liabilities    
 Equity    
7 Share capital 200,000 200,000 500 
 Hedging reserves -8,290 -5,177 0 
 Retained earnings 561,463 532,441 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
  753,173 727,264 500 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Non-current liabilities    
8 Credit institutions 757,013 802,537 0 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total non-current liabilities 757,013 802,537 0 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Current liabilities    

8 Credit institutions 45,524 30,524 0 

 Trade payables 0 70 0 

 Other liabilities 21,503 31,727 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total current liabilities 67,027 62,321 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total liabilities 1,577,213 1,592,122 500 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

DKK ’000 Issued capital 
Retained 
earnings 

Proposed 
dividend Total equity 

 ___________________ ___________________ ___________________ ___________________ 
Equity at 30 March 2015 500 0 0 500 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Loss for the year - -46,059 0 -46,059 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Other comprehensive income     
Foreign currency translation of foreign entities - 0 0 0 
Value adjustment of hedging instruments  -6.768 0 -6.768 

Tax on other comprehensive income - 1.591 0 1.591 

 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 

Total other comprehensive income - -5,177 0 -5,177 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Total comprehensive income for the year - -51,236 0 -51,236 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Transactions with owners     
Capital increase 199,500 578,500 0 778,000 
Dividend distributed - 0 0 0 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Total transactions with owners 199,500 578,500 0 778,000 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Equity at 31 December 2015 200,000 527,264 0 727,264 
 ___________________ ___________________ ___________________ ___________________ 
     
Equity at 1 January 2016 200,000 527,264 0 727,264 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Loss for the year - 29,022 0 29,022 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Other comprehensive income     
Foreign currency translation of foreign entities - 0 0 0 
Value adjustment of hedging instruments - -3.861 0 -3.861 
Tax on other comprehensive income - 748 0 748 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Total other comprehensive income - -3,113 0 -3,113 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Total comprehensive income for the year - 25,909 0 25,909 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Transactions with owners     
Dividend distributed - 0 0 0 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Total transactions with owners - 0 0 0 
 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Equity at 31 December 2016 200,000 553,173 0 753,173 

 ___________________ ___________________ ___________________ ___________________ 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

Note DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ 
 Operating profit/loss 623 -27,409 
 

Other adjustments of non-cash operating items 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ 
 

Cash generated from operations before changes 
in working capital 623 -27,409 

 Changes in working capital 23,133 -44,999 
  _____________________ _____________________ 
 Cash from operations 23,756 -72,408 

 Interest expenses paid -37,371 -19,962 

 Income tax received 4,938 0 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 
Cash flows from operating activities -8,677 -92,370 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 Investments in subsidiaries -14.084 -1,515,558 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 
Cash flows from investing activities -14.084 -1,515,558 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 
Repayment of long-term debt -35,000 0 

 
Increase in debt to credit institutions 0 830,450 

 Proceeds from share issue 0 778,000 

 Dividends received 65,000 0 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 
Cash flows from financing activities 30,000 1,608,450 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 Cash flows for the year 7,239 522 

 Cash at 1 January 2016/30 March 2015 1,022 500 

  _____________________ _____________________ 

 Cash at 31 December 8,261 1,022 

  _____________________ _____________________ 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Note  

1 Employee expenses 
2 Financial income  
3 Financial expenses  
4 Income tax  
5 Investments in subsidiaries  
6 Deferred tax 
7 Issued share capital  
8 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  
9 Financial risk management objectives and policies  

10 Capital management   
11 Related parties  
12 Contractual commitments and contingencies, etc.  
13 Standards issued, but not yet effective  
14 Events after the reporting period 
15 Impact of transition to IFRS 
16 Accounting policies 

 

 

NOTES 
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1 EMPLOYEE EXPENSES 
 

DKK ’000 
1 January –  

31 December 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Wages and salaries 3,690 702 
Pensions, defined contribution plans 0 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
 3,690 702 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

Average number of full-time employees 1 1 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

Remuneration to the Executive Board   

Wages and salaries 3,690 702 

Pensions, defined contribution plans 0 0 

 _____________________ _____________________ 

 3,690 702 

 _____________________ _____________________ 

Remuneration to the Board of Directors    

Wages and salaries 0 0 

Pensions, defined contribution plans 0 0 

 _____________________ _____________________ 

 0 0 

 _____________________ _____________________ 

   
 

The Executive Board are eligible for bonuses, depending on the result of operations and personal KPIs. 

 

 

2 FINANCIAL INCOME 
 

DKK ’000 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Interest income from subsidiaries 659 1,958 
 ____________________ ____________________ 
Total financial income 659 1,958 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
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3 FINANCIAL EXPENSES 
 

DKK ’000 2016 
30 March –  

31 December 2015 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Interest on debts and borrowings, etc. 38,030 21,920 
Amortisation of borrowing costs  4,476 2,611 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Total interest expense on debts and borrowings at 
amortised cost, etc. 42,506 24,531 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Currency loss, net 0 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Total financial expenses 42,506 24,531 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

 

 

4 INCOME TAX 
 

Major components of the income tax expense for the year ended 31 December: 

DKK ’000 2016 2015 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Current income tax charge 4,526 3,349 
Change in deferred tax 720 574 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
 5,246 3,923 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Loss before tax 23,776 -49,982 
   
Calculated at Denmark's statutory income tax rate of 
22.0%/23.5% -5,231 11,745 
Tax impact of dividends reversed 14.200 0 
Tax impact of acquisition-related costs  0 -5,924 
Tax impact of other permanent differences, etc.  -3,723 -1,898 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
 5,246 3,923 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
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5 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 
 

DKK ’000 2016 2015 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Cost at 1 January 2016/30 March 2015 1,520,043 0 
Additions from acquisitions 0 1,325,043 
Capital increase in subsidiary 0 195,000 
Indemnification asset -5,005 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Cost at 31 December 1,515,038 1,520,043 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Impairment at 1 January 2016/30 March 2015 0 0 
Impairment 0 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Impairment at 31 December 0 0 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Carrying amount at 31 December 1,515,038 1,520,043 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

 

Name 
Principal 
activities 

Country of 
incorporation 

% equity 
interest  Net result Equity 

 __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 
Fitness World A/S Gym activities Denmark 100.00% 39,647 533,855 
Fitness World Sp. z o.o. 
subsidiary of Fitness World A/S Gym activities Poland 100.00% -17,394 17,048 

 

For more information on the acquisition of subsidiaries, please refer to note 21 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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6 DEFERRED TAX 
 

DKK ’000 2016 2015 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Deferred tax at 1 January 2016 (30 March 2015) 574 0 
Adjustments of deferred tax in the income statement 720 574 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Deferred tax at 31 December 1,294 574 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Assets 1,294 574 
 _____________________ _____________________ 
Deferred tax at 31 December 1,294 574 
 _____________________ _____________________ 

 

The Company has carried forward losses on financial instruments with a taxable value of DKK 6 million 
(2015: DKK 2 million), which is not recognised, as its future utilisation is associated with uncertainty. The 
carry-forward period is limited to three years. 

 

 

7 ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL 
 

For information on issued share capital, please refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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8 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS 
 

The Company has taken out the following interest-bearing loans and borrowings: 

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings Expiry Floating rate 

Carrying  
amount 

2015 
 _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
Facility A By 2020 3.5% 310,000 
Facility B   By 2021 4.0% 550,000 
   _____________________ 
   860,000 
   _____________________ 
Non-current   825,000 

Current   35,000 

   _____________________ 

   860,000 
   _____________________ 
Facility A By 2020 3.5% 275,000 
Facility B  By 2021 4.0% 550,000 
   _____________________ 
   825,000 
   _____________________ 
Non-current   775,000 
Current   50,000 
   _____________________ 
   825,000 

   _____________________ 
 

Interest on the Facility A and Facility B loans is partly hedged using interest rate swaps for 68% of the 
loans (2015: 65%).   

Capitalised borrowing costs amounted to DKK 22,463 thousand (2015: DKK 26,939 thousand) at 31 
December 2016 and were amortised until the expiry date of the loans. Amortisation in 2016 amounted to 
DKK 4,476 thousand (2015: DKK 2,611 thousand). 

 

 

9 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  
 

The Company has only invested in the subsidiary Fitness World A/S. Risk related to currency, credit and 
liquidity is maintained at Group level. Please refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for 
further information about the Group's risk exposure.  

 

 

10  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to maximise shareholder value, which is 
maintained at Group level. Please refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for further 
information on the Group's capital management. 
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11 RELATED PARTIES 
 

Related parties are described in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements. Remuneration to the 
Board of Directors is listed in note 2. Furthermore, the Company has intercompany Group balances 
regarding balance sheet and interest, cf. note 2. The Company does not have any other related party 
transactions. 

 

 

12 CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES, ETC. 
 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
The Company is taxed jointly with the Danish companies in the Group. The Company is, together with the 
other companies in the Group, liable for corporate taxes and withholding taxes on dividends, interest and 
royalties within the joint taxation.  

PLEDGES AND SECURITIES 
As security for the debt to credit institutions, DKK 825 million (2015: DKK 860 million), collateral has 
been taken in the investments in subsidiaries, where the carrying amount at 31 December 2016 was DKK 
1,515 million (2015: DKK 1,520 million). 

 

 

13  STANDARDS ISSUED, BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 

Standards issued, but not yet effective are described in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

14 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 

No events have occurred after the balance sheet date to date which would influence the evaluation of the 
parent company’s financial statements. 
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15 IMPACT OF TRANSITION TO IFRS 
 

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 with comparative figures are the first set 
of financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as endorsed by the EU. For periods up to and 
including the year ended 31 December 2016, Fitness World Group A/S prepared its financial statements 
in accordance with the Danish Financial Statements Act. 

Accordingly, Fitness World Group A/S has prepared financial statements which comply with IFRS 
applicable for periods ending at or after 31 December 2016, together with the comparative period at and 
for the year ended 31 December 2015, as described in the summary of significant accounting policies. In 
preparing these financial statements, the opening balance sheet of Fitness World Group A/S was 
prepared at 30 March 2015, the date of transition to IFRS. This note explains the principal adjustments 
made by Fitness World Group A/S in restating its financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
Danish Financial Statements Act, including the balance sheet at 30 March 2015 and the financial 
statements at and for the year ended 31 December 2015. 

 
EXEMPTIONS APPLIED 
IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the retrospective application of certain 
requirements under IFRS. 

For the purpose of preparing the parent company financial statements, Fitness World Group A/S has not 
applied any exemptions. 
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BALANCE SHEET AT 30 MARCH 2015 
 

Note DKK ’000 DK GAAP 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 
IFRS  

30 March 2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Assets    
 Non-current assets    
 Investment in subsidiaries 0 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total non-current assets 0 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Current assets    

 Receivables from subsidiaries 0 0 0 

 Income tax receivable 0 0 0 

 Prepayments 0 0 0 
 Cash 500 0 500 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total current assets 0 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total assets 500 0 500 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Liabilities    
 Equity    
 Share capital 500 0 500 
 Retained earnings 0 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total equity 500 0 500 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total non-current liabilities 0 0 0 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Current liabilities    

 Trade payables 0 0 0 

 Income tax payable 0 0 0 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total current liabilities 0 0 0 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total liabilities 500 0 500 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

Note DKK ’000 DK GAAP 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 

IFRS 
31 December 

2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Assets    
 Non-current assets    
A,B,D Investment in subsidiaries 1,502,374 11,894 1,514,268 
C Deferred tax assets 0 574 574 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total non-current assets 1,502,374 12,468 1,514,842 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Current assets    

 Receivables from subsidiaries 45,069 0 45,069 

 Income tax receivable 4,939 0 4,939 
C Deferred tax assets 574 -574 0 
D Other receivables 0 26,250 26,250 
 Cash 1,022 0 1,022 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total current assets 51,604 25,676 77,280 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total assets 1,553,978 38,144 1,592,122 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Liabilities    
 Equity    
 Share capital 200,000 0 200,000 
A,B Retained earnings 489,119 38,144 527,263 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Total equity 689,119 38,144 727,263 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Non-current liabilities    

 Credit institutions 802,537 0 802,537 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total current liabilities 802,537 0 802,537 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Current liabilities    

 Credit institutions 30,524 0 30,524 

 Trade payables 70 0 70 

 Income tax payable 31,728 0 31,728 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total current liabilities 62,322 0 62,322 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total liabilities 1,553,978 38,144 1,592,122 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
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INCOME STATEMENT 
 

Note DKK ’000 DK GAAP 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 

IFRS 30 March – 
31 December 

2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Revenue 702 0 702 
 Employee expenses -702 0 -702 
 Other external costs -2,199 0 -2,199 
B Other operating expenses 0 -25,210 -25,210 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Operating loss -2,199 0 -27,409 
A Result for shares in subsidiaries -63,354 63,354 0 

 Financial income 1,978 0 1,978 

 Financial expenses -24,531 0 -24,531 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Loss before tax -88,126 38,144 -49,982 
 Income tax  3,923 0 3,923 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 Loss for the year -84,203 38,144 -46,059 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

Note DKK ’000 DK GAAP 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 

IFRS 30 March – 
31 December 

2015 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
A,B Loss for the year -84,203 38,144 -46,059 
     
 Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to 

profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax):    
 Exchange differences in translation of foreign 

entities 0 0 0 
 Net gain/loss on cash flow hedges -6.768 0 -6.768 
 Income tax 1.591 0 1.591 
  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the 
year, net of tax -5,177 0 -5,177 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 

 Total comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax -89,380 38,144 -51,236 

  _____________________ _____________________ _____________________ 
 

EFFECT OF TRANSITION 
A. Under the Danish Financial Statements Act, investments in subsidiaries were recognised using the 

equity method. Under IFRS, Management has chosen to recognise investments in subsidiaries at cost. 
Hence, the result for the period is reversed. 

B. Under the Danish Financial Statements Act, acquisition costs have been capitalised as part of 
investments, but under IFRS, acquisition costs should be expensed in the income statement. 
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RECLASSIFICATIONS 
Apart from changes in accounting policies, the following reclassifications and changes in format, including 
restatement of comparative figures for 2015, have been made: 

• Deferred tax assets reclassified from current to non-current assets. 

• Receivable from previous owner has been reclassified from investment to other receivables due to a 
classification error. 

• Assets are presented as either non-current or current assets, compared to fixed assets and current 
assets previously. 

 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
The transition from the Danish Financial Statements Act to IFRS has not had a material impact on the 
cash flow statement. 

 

 

16 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The parent company does not have any major activities and its main purpose is to hold investments in 
subsidiaries. 

 

BASIS OF PREPARATION 
The parent company financial statements of Fitness World Group A/S have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.  

The parent company financial statements are presented in DKK, which is the parent company's functional 
currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (DKK ’000), except where otherwise 
indicated. 

For the period 30 March – 31 December 2015, the parent company prepared its separate financial 
statements in accordance with the Danish Financial Statements Act. The financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 are the first financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. Please 
refer to note 15 for information about how the parent company adopted IFRS. 

The functional currency of the parent company is DKK and the financial statements of the parent 
company are presented in DKK thousand. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. 

The accounting policies of Fitness World Group A/S are the same as for the consolidated financial 
statements, with the additions below. For a description of the accounting policies for the consolidated 
financial statements, as disclosed in note 29 in the consolidated financial statement. 
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SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE PARENT COMPANY  
 

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 
Investments in subsidiaries are measured using the cost method in the parent company's financial 
statements. If an indication of impairment is identified, an impairment test is carried out as described in 
the accounting policies for the consolidated financial statements. If the carrying amount of investments 
exceeds the recoverable amount, a corresponding impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses are 
recognised in the parent company's income statement as financial items.  

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
In connection with the preparation of the parent company financial statements, Management has made 
accounting estimates and judgements that affect the assets and liabilities reported at the balance sheet 
date as well as the income and expenses reported for the financial period. Management continuously 
reassesses these estimates and judgements based on a number of other factors depending on the 
circumstances. 

Management assesses that, in respect of the financial reporting for the parent company, no accounting 
estimates or judgements are made when applying the parent company's accounting policies that are 
significant to the financial reporting, apart from those disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 



 FITNESS WORLD ANNUAL REPORT 2016  
 
 

 

 

91 

MANAGEMENT’S 
STATEMENT 
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The Board of Directors and the Executive Board have today discussed and approved the annual report of 
Fitness World Group A/S for the financial year 1 January – 31 December 2016. 

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and Danish disclosure requirements applying to reporting class 
C large enterprises.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and the parent company at 31 December 2016 
and of the results of the Group's and the parent company's operations and the consolidated cash flows 
for the financial year 1 January – 31 December 2016. 

Further, in our opinion, the Management's review gives a fair review of the development in the Group's 
and the parent company's operations and financial matters and the results of the Group's and the parent 
company's operations and financial position. 

We recommend that the annual report be approved at the annual general meeting. 

Valby, 31 May 2017 
Executive Board: 

 

 

_________________________________ 
Steen Albrechtslund 
 

Board of Directors: 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Kasper Sørensen 
Chairman 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Thomas Broe-Andersen  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Niels Meidahl 
 
 
 

 

MANAGEMENT'S STATEMENT 
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TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF FITNESS WORLD GROUP A/S 
 

OPINION 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements of 
Fitness World Group A/S for the financial year 1 January – 31 December 2016, which comprise an income 
statement, statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow 
statement and notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies, for the Group as well as for 
the Parent Company. The consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU 
and additional requirements of the Danish Financial Statements Act.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and the parent company at 31 December 2016 
and of the results of the Group's and the parent company's operations and cash flows for the financial 
year 1 January – 31 December 2016 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU and additional requirements of the Danish Financial Statements Act. 

 

BASIS FOR OPINION 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and additional 
requirements applicable in Denmark. Our responsibilities under those standards and requirements are 
further described in the "Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
and the parent company financial statements" section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (IESBA code) and additional requirements applicable in Denmark, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these rules and requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

STATEMENT ON THE MANAGEMENT'S REVIEW 
Management is responsible for the Management's review. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements does 
not cover the Management's review, and we do not express any assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the Management's review and, in doing so, consider whether the 
Management's review is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or the parent 
company financial statements, or our knowledge obtained during the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  

Moreover, it is our responsibility to consider whether the Management's review provides the information 
required under the Danish Financial Statements Act.  

Based on our procedures, we conclude that the Management's review is in accordance with the 
consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements and has been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Danish Financial Statements Act. We did not identify any 
material misstatements of the Management's review.  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE 
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements and parent company 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and additional requirements of the Danish Financial Statements Act and 
for such internal control as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements and parent company financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT  
In preparing the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements, 
Management is responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent company's ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial 
statements unless Management either intends to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
and the parent company financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and 
additional requirements applicable in Denmark will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements and parent company financial statements. 

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and additional requirements applicable in 
Denmark, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and 
the parent company financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group's and the parent company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by Management. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of Management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the parent company's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements and the parent company financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusion is based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and the parent company 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and contents of the consolidated financial statements and 
the parent company financial statements, including the note disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that gives a true and fair view. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT  
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Copenhagen, 31 May 2017 
Ernst & Young 
Godkendt Revisionspartnerselskab 
CVR no. 30 70 02 28 
 

 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Steen Skorstengaard 
State Authorised Public Accountant 

 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Ole Becker 
State Authorised Public Accountant 
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